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INTRODUCTION
The report and accounts for the 12 months ended 31 August 2018 have been prepared in
accordance with the Statement of Recommended Practice ‘Accounting and Reporting by
Charities’, published by the Charity Commission in 2015.
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OBJECTIVES AND ACTIVITIES IN 2017/18

1.1 MISSION, VISION AND VALUES
The principal objective of Education Development Trust, as defined in its Articles of Association,
is to advance education for the public benefit. Our mission is to provide evidence-based
sustainable solutions that transform lives through education. Our vision is a world where
everyone’s life is transformed through excellent education.
We believe in the power of education to help individuals fulfil their potential and benefit society.
In conducting our work, we seek to embody the following values, which we apply to all our
activities, to our interaction with our clients and to our relationship with our beneficiaries:
•
•
•
•

excellence in learning outcomes, our people and our solutions;
integrity in the way we build trust and bring purpose to our work;
accountability through rigorous and transparent assessment of our performance;
collaboration by working together across teams and in partnership with clients and
customers to build capacity.

1.2 ORGANISATIONAL OBJECTIVES 2017/18
To maximise opportunities and our competitive advantage in 2017/18, in our three operating
groups we aimed to:
Education Services Group
• Continue to win large contracts in each of our regions and deliver high impact results.
• Diversify our client base in each region.
• Develop new education services based on research and development.
• Further enhance evidence-led, adaptive project and programme management capability,
linked to our impact framework.
• Develop a clear approach to key strategic partnerships in each region.
• Develop an approach to new geographical markets.
Research and Consultancy Group
• Deliver high-quality growth in our consultancy activities globally relating to our core areas of
expertise.
• Consolidate our position as a distinctive provider of consultancy on education reform.
• Broaden our client base.
• Test new geographical markets.
• Enhance collaboration with and support to Education Services Group.
Independent Schools Group
• Continue to support our independent (private) schools with investment, high-quality local
resource and responsive central services – to promote growth and outstanding outcomes for
our students.
• Develop a pipeline of opportunities for new international school operations.
We also set out to refresh our strategy and develop a three-year plan for the period 2018–21.
1.3 PUBLIC BENEFIT
Trustees have also given careful consideration to the Charity Commission’s general guidance on
public benefit and are satisfied that all the Trust’s work is for the public benefit. Our educational
performance is summarised in the Strategic Report.
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During the year we developed a three-year strategy for 2018–21. This strategy document

Research
We invest annually in our
programme of education
research so that education
reform can be evidenceinformed. Our research
informs policymakers
around the world as well
as our own work on the
ground – and it is all
available to download
free on our website.
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2.1 STRATEGY
During the year we developed a three-year strategy for 2018–21. This strategy document
identifies the key areas for action for 2018–21 to achieve our strategic intent to be worldleading in the design and delivery of high-impact, large-scale education change programmes.
2.2 WHO WE ARE AND WHAT WE DO
We are an organisation that changes lives for the better, providing millions of beneficiaries with
enhanced opportunities to learn and to thrive. We make best global practice local, using both our
understanding of ‘what works’ and deep knowledge of the contexts where we work. We are a
business with charitable status and a strong social purpose. We are an international
organisation, headquartered in the UK, which uses the UK as an innovation hub.
We will be well-known for excellence in five areas:
•
•
•
•
•

the improvement of school systems at scale, with specific expertise in system change,
accountability, teacher development, leadership development and school-to-school
collaboration;
the provision of employability and careers services;
our public domain / public benefit research programme;
the ownership and management of a portfolio of private schools;
sponsorship of the CfBT Schools Trust.

2.3 RESEARCH
Education Development Trust seeks to be a knowledge-led organisation recognised for its
capacity to design and deliver high-quality solutions that are evidence-informed. In addition to
providing services to clients based on the best available evidence, we also fund a programme of
public domain education research. We typically produce research reports in partnership with
like-minded organisations. Through the programme, we aim to increase public benefit and to
contribute positively to our public profile. The success of our research programme is measured
by the following criteria:
•

the technical quality of our research reports;

•

the visibility and impact of our research publications with key audiences to enhance our
global reputation and support business development;

•

the extent to which we are seen as ‘thought leaders’ by key audiences as a result of our
research;

•

the contribution of the research programme to support for CfBT Schools Trust (CST), our
family of independent (private) schools and our operational delivery around the world.

All the research published in 2017/18 is available to download for free, along with the entire
research portfolio at www.educationdevelopmenttrust.com/ourresearch.
2.4 HOW WE WORK
4
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of independent (private) schools and our operational delivery around the
world.
•

All the research published in 2017/18 is available to download for free, along with the entire
research portfolio at www.educationdevelopmenttrust.com/ourresearch.
2.4 HOW WE WORK
We are organised in three operating groups. The Education Services Group delivers
programmes at scale. Our Research and Consultancy
Group conducts our research and
4
provides education consultancy services. The Independent Schools Group manages our private
schools.
The key characteristics of our work are as follows:
1. Evidence informed solutions: distinctive expertise in the reform and improvement of
education systems, schools and careers guidance across the world.
2. Highly reliable implementation: efficient project management supported by excellent
people, processes and technology.
3. A focus on impact: robust evaluation and measurement of outcomes using innovative
approaches.
4. Excellent client engagement: responsive and proactive relationships with clients.
2.5 EVIDENCE AND IMPACT ASSESSMENT
In line with our mission to transform lives around the world by improving education, we
systematically evaluate the public benefit impact of our work to establish our effectiveness
across our diverse portfolio of charitable activity. We are committed to evidence-informed policy
and practice, and we design all our work in a way that incorporates up-to-date international
evidence about key drivers of educational improvement, tailored to local context. During the year
we piloted a new impact framework to support both programme design and programme
monitoring and evaluation. More generally, we have placed an increased emphasis on the
measurement of impact on beneficiaries. This section, which provides a representative overview
of selected achievements and impact during the financial year, illustrates this development.
Whether we measure KPIs set by the client or establish our own measures, all our programmes
and the work we do has tailored metrics to establish that our work is having a positive impact on
individuals and school systems. During the year we worked in 29 countries, 14 of which we had
not worked in before; we supported the professional development of more than 25,000 teachers
and 2,000 school leaders; our careers service helped more than 65,000 people; we published
six new research reports and our research had more than 20,000 unique page views.
Public research
During the year we published six research reports. In July 2018 we published our study of what
lies behind the remarkable effectiveness of the Vietnamese school system, Promising practice:
government schools in Vietnam. This report was the result of two years of fieldwork in Vietnam
and identifies five distinctive and positive features of the Vietnamese school system.
England’s approach to school performance data: lessons learned highlights some of the features
of the England national pupil data story over three decades in order to inform the thinking of
policymakers in other countries.
Complementing our work on the OECD’s Teaching and Learning International Survey 2018
Video Study, which observes and documents mathematics teaching practices in 85 secondary
schools in England, Observing effective mathematics teaching: a review of the literature,
commissioned by the UK Department for Education (DfE), examines a range of mathematics
lesson observation frameworks.
We joined forces with UNESCO’s International Institute for Educational Planning to conduct a
review of policy towards teachers of refugees in our report, Teachers of refugees: a review of the
literature. The review identifies the widespread problem of teachers being effectively barred from
teaching refugee children due to local regulatory arrangements.
58
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Produced in partnership with the British Council and the Open University, Multilingual
classrooms: opportunities and challenges for English medium instruction in low- and middleincome contexts provides insight and support to those responsible for setting or enacting policy
in complex language environments around the world.
Constructing schools in a recurrent armed conflict in Democratic Republic of Congo is authored
by our fourth Tim Morris Award winner, Cyril Brandt. Our annual Tim Morris Award offers
financial support to an outstanding PhD or MPhil student in the field of education and
international development to support field research in a developing country.
Wasichana Wetu Wafaulu (Let all girls succeed) – Kenya
We have been working across eight counties in Kenya since 2013 to help 89,000 girls go to
school, stay in school and improve their learning. The current six-year programme continues to
support 72,000 girls as they transition to secondary school or an alternative pathway. Our efforts
target marginalised girls in challenging contexts where the barriers to girls’ enrolment,
attendance and learning are complex. We adopt an integrated approach in order to effect a
fundamental change that addresses substantial socio-economic and cultural challenges.
•
•
•
•

2,256 teachers trained in best-practice methods for teaching literacy and numeracy.
87 coaches trained.
410 community groups established to champion girls’ education.
2,486 girls trained as peer educators.

As part of our home- and community-based support we provided back-to-school kits for girls and
direct financial support to vulnerable families to cover the cost of schooling. We have placed a
major focus on improving the quality of education through our high-impact teacher coaching
model. We deployed skilled instructional coaches who worked with teachers to develop their
pedagogical skills and give specialist support to address gender inequality in the classroom. To
build wider system capacity and sustainability we established a productive relationship with the
national Teaching Service Commission (TSC), which endorsed the methodology. This approach
was further strengthened by an innovative system leadership model, which harnesses the
expertise of successful school principals to improve leadership capacity across other schools.
Achieving girl-friendly schooling depends on attitudinal changes at all levels of the system. We
worked with government officials, headteachers and school boards to promote new girl-friendly
pedagogies. Our work with students and communities also included a mentorship programme for
girls in 566 schools and the creation of clubs where girls and boys discuss, in a safe
environment, social and cultural issues such as self-esteem, values, life skills and child
protection.
This work is part of the UK Department for International Development’s (DFID) Girls’ Education
Challenge (GEC) that aims to help up to one million of the world’s poorest girls to improve their
lives through education. In November 2017, DFID published an independent global review of
GEC, which identified our programme as one of the most effective GEC projects in the world.
Not only did girls supported by our programme re-engage in education in significant numbers,
they also made progress in both literacy and numeracy outcomes, with the literacy outcomes
being the best out of all GEC Step Change programme providers.

6
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Building Learning Foundations – Rwanda
We began this major DFID-funded programme in July 2017, in partnership with the British
Council and Voluntary Services Overseas, working with every government primary school in
Rwanda to improve learning outcomes in English and mathematics. Our innovative programme
is structured around three interdependent components: improving teaching quality;
strengthening school leadership; and improving management systems – all supported by a
commitment to inclusive education and rigorous monitoring and evaluation.
We compiled baseline data on pupil performance, teaching, leadership and management
practices, assessing more than 10,000 pupils and observing more than 750 classes. We
developed a self-study teacher toolkit and distributed it to 10,261 English and 10,896
mathematics teachers in 1,726 schools. The toolkits contain video and audio material on SD
cards and support inclusive teaching practices and identification of children with learning
difficulties.
The programme incorporates our tried-and-tested Leaders of Learning approach. We selected
and trained 328 National Leaders of Learning and Local Leaders of Learning, who are now
leading school improvement in their respective districts and sectors. We established professional
learning communities in 18 districts and our School Advisers supported their regular meetings.
As we continue the programme we aim to build the long-term capacity of Rwanda’s school
system to become genuinely self-improving.
Test and learn – helping schools do research
Our teacher-led randomised controlled trial (RCT) methodology enables teachers to design and
test interventions for their classroom with support and quality assurance from Education
Development Trust. This empowers them to generate evidence of what does and does not work
in their context and builds their capability to use data and evidence. We worked with the
Wellcome Trust to train science teachers in this methodology. We also trained Varkey
Foundation global teacher ambassadors, who will become advocates for teacher research
engagement in their own countries.
•
•
•

79 teachers trained in the RCT methodology.
7,500 pupils involved in the teacher-led trials.
70 teacher-led RCTs conducted or in progress.

Collaborative school improvement – England
Education Development Trust has been at the forefront of collaborative school improvement in
England. Our Schools Partnership Programme (SPP) had an exceptional year. SPP is an
evidence-based collaborative school improvement model that builds the capacity of school
leaders to facilitate rigorous and outcomes-focused peer review and school-to-school support.
We worked with 682 schools in the year and since inception in 2014, SPP has worked with more
than 1,200 schools and 100 partnerships, including multi-academy trusts, teaching school
alliances and informal collaborations.
Following publication of our report The power and potential of peer review, we continued our
work to better understand the impact collaborative school improvement can have by starting a
trial – supported by the Education Endowment Foundation – to evaluate the impact of the model
on pupil outcomes in Key Stage 2 (KS2). We recruited more than 450 schools (against a target
of 300) and have so far trained 1,200 senior leaders in the SPP model of peer review.
Beyond SPP we worked closely with several local education systems in England on improving
system performance. We assisted with the development of the Essex Schools-Led Improvement
Strategy to improve school-to-school support and challenge across more than 500 schools. We
7
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helped establish the Haringey Education Partnership – a school-led improvement organisation
with 70 participating schools across two London boroughs.
Inspections and accountability
We are a world authority on school inspections and our approach combines deep expertise on
school effectiveness, an understanding of local context and a drive to build the capacity of
headteachers to improve their own schools. During the year our inspections programmes in the
United Arab Emirates involved undertaking reviews of 350 schools. We conducted pioneering
work with the National Inspectorate Board in Ghana to develop a low-cost inspection model for
low-income contexts. Our framework incorporated innovative solutions to cut the cost of
inspections while ensuring they are valid and rigorous. We placed strong emphasis on using the
inspection process to build a school improvement culture.
System-wide school improvement – Brunei
During the year we were mid-way through a major contract to support the Brunei three-year
Literacy and Numeracy Coaching Programme, delivering systematic improvement in the quality
of literacy and numeracy teaching in the country. This involved the deployment of 60
international literacy and numeracy coaches. We have strengthened structures and capacity at
all levels of the national system, from Ministry of Education officials to headteachers and
teachers, fostering a culture within which learning is enhanced through coaching and mentoring.
Local coaches, drawn from the teaching profession in Brunei, have received intensive,
personalised support from international coaches to build pedagogical and teaching skills; and
are already helping other teachers who they coach to improve classroom practice. We have built
the capability of headteachers to drive change and of school cluster leaders to support and
challenge them. Standardised tests in July 2018 showed 15% and 7% increases respectively in
students achieving 50% or higher in mathematics and English, compared to previous similar
tests in February 2018.
We have been developing the capability of colleagues in the Ministry of Education so they can
lead the programme into the future to drive transformational change across the system; the
programme is fully embedded in the Ministry, whose staff already engage in programme
governance and decision-making. During the year we trained 170 local coaches who will
continue to provide classroom-based coaching after the completion of our contract.
In addition, we continue to recruit and deploy 200 first-language-English-speaking teachers in
Brunei’s schools as part of our longstanding partnership with the government of Brunei.
Educating Syria’s refugees in Jordan and Lebanon
We continued to apply our Alexandria Schools Trust restricted fund to promote effective
approaches to English language teaching in the Middle East. We began our Improving English
Skills programme in Jordan, in partnership with the Queen Rania Teacher Academy, to improve
the English teaching skills of teachers of refugees and to develop education supervisors’
coaching skills and use of evidence. In Lebanon we supported NGOs delivering non-formal
education to Syrian refugee children, helping teachers to more effectively use English as a
medium of instruction. Across both programmes, teachers we worked with were collectively
responsible for the education of 21,000 refugee students.
Supporting education in Wales
We played a key role in the design and establishment in Wales of a new National Academy for
Educational Leadership (NAEL), which works across the country to support the professional
learning of school leaders. We also provided technical assistance to the pilot of the NAEL’s
Academy Associates Programme.
8
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Working with the Education Achievement Service (EAS), the organisation responsible for school
improvement across five local authorities in south-east Wales, we strengthened governance and
school collaboration. We also reviewed EAS board performance and ran development activities
to improve board capability.
We concluded our DFID-funded Global Learning Programme Wales, supporting 56% of all
schools in Wales with the integration of sustainable development and global learning into the
curriculum. A survey of 915 teachers showed high levels of satisfaction in the quality of support
received via the programme.
Expert rapid response consultancy
We have been providing rapid response education consultancy services for international
development since 2009. During the year our provision of these consultancy services to DFID,
the European Commission and the Norwegian Agency for Development Cooperation (Norad)
delivered expert technical assistance in 23 countries. We apply a deep and continually refreshed
understanding of education system reform, blending system and political analysis with local
diagnostics to support the development of new policies, structures and systems. Assignments
during the year included the following.
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

•

We supported the government of Rwanda to develop a six-year sector strategic plan.
We undertook a performance review of the DFID-funded Keeping Girls in School
programme in Malawi.
We provided technical assistance and guidance to the acting Executive Secretary of the
National Council for Curriculum and Assessment in Ghana.
We reviewed and appraised the World Bank’s Multi-Donor Education and Skills Fund.
We undertook a mid-term review of Save the Children education programmes funded by
Norad’s civil society department.
We appraised the proposed design of a new Africa Skills Fund.
We provided technical support and capacity building for 47 NGO grant holders as part of
DFID’s UKAid Match 2 grant programme.
Our technical assistance to the government of the Philippines, funded by the Asian
Development Bank, supported the roll-out of a new two-year high school cycle and a new
US$ 300 million results-based loan programme that aims to equip six million students
with the essential competencies and skills for lifelong learning and employability.
We produced a scoping study on inclusive education for DFID, which informed the
development of a new inclusive education programme in partnership with Norad and the
World Bank.

Employability and careers services
Our employability and careers activities include consulting on careers education advice and
guidance policy at government level; training a highly-skilled careers adviser workforce to deliver
impartial careers information, advice and guidance in a wide variety of settings; and working with
national and local agencies to deliver high-quality careers support to young people and adults.
We combine extensive professional knowledge and experience with up-to-date technology to
help us maximise impact for our customers.
We continued to manage the National Careers Service (NCS), a government-funded service
helping adults make decisions on learning, training and work, in the north-east and south-central
regions of England. We worked with more than 3,500 people who had been made redundant to
get them back into meaningful work. In total we supported more than 60,000 people during the
year, with just under 50% of these entering work or learning. The evaluation of NCS providers
undertaken by the Education and Skills Funding Agency consistently rates us in the upper
9
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quartile. We achieved top placing on adviser core skills in the March to May 2018 results, 91%
and 90% in the north-east and south-central respectively, and 92% of customers found our
advice helpful and relevant.
During the year the UK government restructured and retendered NCS, and we were awarded
work both in our existing regions and in new areas (in the Yorkshire & Humber region and in the
south of England).
Owning and managing private schools
We own three independent schools in the UK and one in South Africa, which serve the needs of
diverse communities and are committed to excellence. All three UK schools were once again
listed in The Times top 100 independent preparatory schools list.
St Andrew’s School achieved excellent results in the national tests at Key Stage 1 and 2,
continuing to achieve above the national average; and 85% of Year 6 leavers were eligible for
entry to Kent and Medway Grammar Schools.
Danesfield Manor School also achieved excellent results in the national tests at Key Stage 2,
scoring consistently above the national average. In 2018, 82% of our school leavers secured
places at their first choice of senior school, including four academic scholarships and one sports
scholarship. Danesfield was awarded the International School Award by the British Council in
recognition of its excellent international curriculum.
Oakfield Preparatory School also had excellent results: our Year 6 leavers received 104 offers of
secondary school places for 39 children, including 33 scholarships or awards. Pupils also won
24 medals at the Independent Schools Association national and regional sports competitions.
The International School of Cape Town (ISCT) achieved a 100% pass rate at A level, and at
IGCSE 89% at grades A to C – with 39% being A and A* grades. Seven results were rated as
the best in South Africa – two at A level, three at AS level and two from the IGCSE results. Two
students were placed in the top 100 of the national mathematics Olympiad and three gained gold
medals at the University of Cape Town’s mathematics competition.
As a result of our strategy work during the year, we decided to focus our school management
activities on our existing portfolio and not to pursue opportunities for new international school
operations for the time being.
2.6 OTHER ORGANISATIONAL ACHIEVEMENTS
During 2017/18, we have continued to build the organisation’s capability to deliver further public
benefit in the future.
Education Services Group
• We won 19 large (£1m or more) contracts across our regions and demonstrated impact
and public benefit through contract and performance KPIs.
• We built up relations with new key clients and stakeholders, including governments and
philanthropic agencies like Dubai Cares.
• We developed and delivered education services based on research and development –
for example in the Middle East based on pilot work in Jordan, and in Rwanda based on
research and pilot work in Kenya and India.
• We developed standard operating procedures to ensure excellence in programme
delivery, developed our evidence-led adaptive project and programme management
capability, and started to evidence and evaluate impact using our new impact framework.

10
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We built our business development team capacity by adding strategic consultants
focused on the development of key strategic partnerships in each region.
We reviewed our approach to new geographical markets, focusing on our Sub-Saharan
Africa and Middle East and North Africa regions.

Research and Consultancy Group
• We provided substantial consultancy inputs to large-scale Education Services Group
projects in Brunei and Rwanda.
• We managed the Education Development Trust public research programme and
organised a series of cross-organisation research and development projects.
• In partnership with the University of Oxford we managed a project on behalf of the DfE
analysing the teaching of secondary mathematics as part of a major international
comparative study.
Independent Schools Group
• Following a review, we started to develop ways to improve coordination and collaboration
with and between schools – including systems to promote school development and
delivery of support services.
We also enabled CST to invest in a range of improvement initiatives – leadership and other
professional development, collaborative school improvement, classroom-based research – by
providing support and grant-funding.
2.7 FINANCIAL OVERVIEW
Education Development Trust’s revenue is generated by winning education-related contracts
from governments and public or private bodies. What sets us apart is that any surpluses are
reinvested into educational research and development. We have continued to refine the robust
and consistent financial model that underpins our operations, enabling us to:
•
•
•
•

focus on deploying highly-capable resource to deliver impactful solutions;
remain lean and flexible – combining value for money with the ability to scale up and
down while assuring front-line delivery;
have appropriate support capability to provide essential back-office and infrastructure
services, the governance our partners expect and to fulfil our legal obligations;
generate sufficient funds to invest in our sustainability through research and
development, innovation and business development, brand building, enabling
infrastructure – and in particular our public research.

The results of Education Development Trust’s subsidiary companies are incorporated on a lineby-line basis in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Activities and in the Group Balance
Sheet. The results and net assets/liabilities of the subsidiary companies are set out in Note 10.
The Group results for the 12-month period show net income, before disposals and gains on
investments, of £2.3 million (2016/17: £1.1m). Total income is £74 million, an increase of £6
million from 2016/17. After other recognised gains of £0.4 million (2016/17: £2.9m) and after
deducting minority interests of £1.4 million (2016/17: £0.8m) the net increase in funds for the
year is £1.6 million (2016/17: £24.2m).
The total assets less current liabilities of the Group amount to £33.6 million (2016/17: £32.1m).
The net assets of the Group are £33.2 million (2016/17 £30.9m). For the Charity, net assets of
£19 million are reported (2016/17: £18.3m). After accounting for actuarial gains of £0.7 million,
the defined benefit pension scheme accounting balance is an asset of £0.4 million.
11
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The Charity and its subsidiaries are not dependent on the services of unpaid volunteers or on
donations in kind or any other intangible income not evaluated or explained in the accounts.
The Charity and its subsidiaries are not dependent on the services of unpaid volunteers or on
donations in kind or any other intangible income not evaluated or explained in the accounts.
2.8 RESERVES POLICY
Free
reserves are
defined as unrestricted financial investments plus working capital. They
2.8 RESERVES
POLICY
exclude restricted and designated funds, tangible fixed assets and defined benefit pension
Free reserves are defined as unrestricted financial investments plus working capital. They
assets/liabilities; and include minority interests (for the Group). It is the policy of the Board to
exclude restricted and designated funds, tangible fixed assets and defined benefit pension
hold adequate reserves for the following purposes.
assets/liabilities; and include minority interests (for the Group). It is the policy of the Board to
hold adequate reserves for the following purposes.
• To manage foreseeable working capital requirements of major programmes.
To manage
absorb aforeseeable
risk-based working
assessment
ofrequirements
the impact ofoftrading
•• To
capital
major volatility.
programmes.
To absorb
make reasonable
for of
other
risks onofatrading
contingency
basis.
•• To
a risk-basedallowance
assessment
the impact
volatility.
• To
To make
finance
investment
in
the
strategic
development
of
the
Charity.
reasonable allowance for other risks on a contingency basis.
• To finance investment in the strategic development of the Charity.
The Board of Trustees reviews the reserves each year to determine the level of funds required
to
retained
to manage
working
capital requirements,
trading volatility
other required
risks, to be
ThebeBoard
of Trustees
reviews
the reserves
each year to determine
the leveland
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earmarked
for to
investment
in the strategic
development of
the Charity
and
to be
invested
in be
public
to be retained
manage working
capital requirements,
trading
volatility
and
other
risks, to
research.
earmarked for investment in the strategic development of the Charity and to be invested in public
research.
On 31 August 2018 free reserves were £5.7 million for the Charity (2016/17: £4.8m) and £18.6
On 31 August
free (2016/17:
reserves were
£5.7 million
the Charity
(2016/17:1.6
£4.8m)
million
for the2018
Group
£16.6m).
Theseforreserves
represent
and and
3.1 £18.6
months’
million for the
Group (2016/17:
£16.6m).
These respectively.
reserves represent
1.6of and
3.1 months’
unrestricted
expenditure
of the Charity
and Group
The level
reserves
anticipated
unrestricted
expenditure
the Charity
andisGroup
respectively.
level ofworking
reservescapital
anticipated
by
the Charity’s
current ofthree-year
plan
adequate
to meetThe
minimum
and risk
by the Charity’s
current three-year
adequatefunds
to meet
minimum investment.
working capital and risk
management
requirements;
and to plan
allowissufficient
for strategic
management requirements; and to allow sufficient funds for strategic investment.
The restricted funds of the Group relate to Kings Monkton School, the League for the Exchange
The
restricted fundsTeachers
of the Group
to Kings
Monkton
School, the League for the Exchange
of
Commonwealth
and relate
Alexandria
Schools
Trust.
of Commonwealth Teachers and Alexandria Schools Trust.
2.9 INVESTMENT POLICY AND RETURNS
2.9 INVESTMENT POLICY AND RETURNS
Education Development Trust’s policy is for its investments to provide growth in income and
Education Development Trust’s policy is for its investments to provide growth in income and
capital prudently over the long term. It invests its reserves through selected investment
capital prudently over the long term. It invests its reserves through selected investment
managers and operates an ethical investment policy. Under the terms of that policy and having
managers and operates an ethical investment policy. Under the terms of that policy and having
regard to the requirements of charity law to maximise returns, Education Development Trust
regard to the requirements of charity law to maximise returns, Education Development Trust
seeks
to avoid
avoid investments
investmentsininactivities
activitiesthat
thatthe
theTrustees
Trustees
consider
contradictory
to aims
its aims
seeks to
consider
to to
be be
contradictory
to its
and
objectives. Trustees
Trusteesperiodically
periodicallyreview
reviewimplementation
implementation
policy
through
consultation
and objectives.
of of
thisthis
policy
through
consultation
with
the
investment
managers.
with the investment managers.
As
permitted in
in the
the Charity’s
Charity’sMemorandum
MemorandumofofAssociation,
Association,
Board
Trustees
As permitted
thethe
Board
of of
Trustees
hashas
widewide
investment
powers
and
has
delegated
responsibility
for
the
management
of
its
investment
investment powers and has delegated responsibility for the management of its investment
portfolio,
within an
an agreed
agreedrisk
riskprofile,
profile,totoinvestment
investment
managers.
assess
whether
its policy
portfolio, within
managers.
ToTo
assess
whether
its policy
is is
being
successfully
pursued,
the
Board
of
Trustees
sets
the
investment
managers
the
task
being successfully pursued, the Board of Trustees sets the investment managers the task of of
achieving
total rate
rate ofof return
returneach
eachyear
yearthat
thatexceeds
exceeds
benchmark
weighted
indices.
Historic
achieving aa total
benchmark
weighted
indices.
Historic
performance
againstbenchmarks
benchmarksisisshown
shownininthe
the
following
table.
performance against
following
table.
11Year
Year
Newton (to
Newton
(to 31/08/18)
31/08/18)
HSBC (to
HSBC
(to 31/08/18)
31/08/18)

Actual
Actual
8.1%
8.1%
4.4%
4.4%

3 Years
3 Years

5 Years
5 Years

Benchmark
Benchmark Actual
Actual Benchmark
Benchmark Actual
Actual Benchmark
Benchmark
6.3%
12.3%
12.0%
9.5%
9.5%
6.3%
12.3%
12.0%
9.5%
9.5%
5.6%
10.1%
11.5%
8.0%
8.5%
5.6%
10.1%
11.5%
8.0%
8.5%
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2.10
2.10FUNDRAISING
FUNDRAISING
Section
Section162a
162aofofthe
theCharities
CharitiesAct
Act2011
2011requires
requiresus
ustotomake
makeaastatement
statementon
onfundraising
fundraisingactivities.
activities.
We
Wedo
donot
notundertake
undertakefundraising
fundraisingactivities.
activities.Therefore:
Therefore:
••
••
••
••

we
wedo
donot
notuse
useprofessional
professionalfundraisers
fundraisersoror‘commercial
‘commercialparticipators’
participators’totosolicit
solicitdonations;
donations;
we
weare
arenot
notsubject
subjecttotoany
anyfundraising
fundraisingregulatory
regulatoryscheme
schemeororrelevant
relevantcodes
codesofofpractice;
practice;
we
wehave
havenot
notreceived
receivedany
anycomplaints
complaintsininrelation
relationtotofundraising;
fundraising;
we
wedo
donot
notrequire
requireprocedures
procedurestotomonitor
monitorfundraising
fundraisingactivities.
activities.

2.11
2.11PRINCIPAL
PRINCIPALRISKS
RISKS
InIn2017/18
2017/18the
thetop
topcorporate
corporaterisks
risksidentified,
identified,and
andassociated
associatedmanaging
managingactions
actionswere
wereas
asfollows.
follows.
Risk
Riskidentified
identified
Loss
Lossofofaamajor
majorclient
clientororfunder
funderand
and/ /oror
viabilityofofan
anindividual
individualspecific
specificarea
areaofof
viability
activity.
activity.

Further
Furthermanaging
managingactions
actions
•• Enhance
Enhanceclient
clientengagement
engagementthrough
through
relationship
relationshipmanagement
managementplans.
plans.
•• Diversify
Diversifykey
keyclient
clientbase,
base,locations
locationsand
and
offerings.
offerings.

Failure
Failuretotowin
winnew
newbusiness
businessand
andachieve
achieve
plannedgrowth.
growth.
planned

•• Review
Reviewbusiness
businessdevelopment
developmentstructures
structuresand
and
increase
increasecapacity
capacitythrough
throughattraction,
attraction,retention
retention
and
andinternal
internaldeployment.
deployment.

Failure
Failuretotoachieve
achieveindependent
independentschool
school
goalsfor
forreasons
reasonsofofcapacity.
capacity.
goals

•• Review
Reviewand
andmaintain
maintainstaff
staffresourcing
resourcingand
and
retention
retentionplans.
plans.

Loss
Lossofofkey
keypeople.
people.

•• Increase
Increasethe
thefocus
focuson
ontalent
talentmanagement.
management.

AAmajor
majorcompliance
complianceissue
issuearises
arises––
particularlyininsafeguarding
safeguardingororduty
dutyofof
particularly
care––due
duetotonon-compliance
non-complianceininthe
theUK
UK
care
culturalissues
issuesglobally.
globally.
ororcultural

•• Review
Reviewimplementation
implementationofofthe
thesafeguarding
safeguarding
improvement
improvementplan.
plan.
•• Review
Reviewimplementation
implementationofofthe
therevised
revisedduty
dutyofof
care
carepolicy.
policy.

AAcyber-attack
cyber-attackleads
leadstotooperational
operational
disruptionororother
otherdamage.
damage.
disruption

•• Conduct
Conductannual
annualreview
reviewofofGDPR
GDPRcompliance.
compliance.
•• Continue
Continueregular
regularmaintenance,
maintenance,monitoring
monitoringand
and
testing
testingofofcontrols.
controls.
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2.12 FINANCIAL RISKS
The following sets out the specific principles in relation to certain types of financial risks.
Liquidity
The Group retains sufficient cash funds to meet the day-to-day needs of the organisation and
invests its remaining reserves in longer-term investments to maximise returns.
Financial market
The Group’s exposure to market risk arises primarily from the Group’s fixed asset investments:
an investment portfolio of stocks and shares managed by two asset management companies
and investment properties. The Group’s policy for the investment portfolio is to limit the amount
the investment managers can invest in any one company and to ensure the investment portfolio
is spread between equities and bonds, both in the UK and overseas, and is invested ethically.
There are no investments in unquoted stocks, derivatives or unregulated collective investment
schemes. The investment managers are also limited on how much they can invest in any one
foreign currency or country.
Credit
The Group is mainly exposed to credit risk from credit sales. A significant amount of income is
derived from major institutional, government and donor funding agencies and so the associated
credit risk is modest. However, where it works for private sector clients it assesses the credit risk
of new customers and factors the information from these credit ratings into future dealings with
the customers. At the balance sheet date there were no significant concentrations of credit risk.
The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of each financial
asset in the balance sheet.
Foreign exchange
Due to the international nature of its activities, the Group’s reported reserves, net assets and
gearing are all affected by foreign exchange movements. The day-to-day transactions of
overseas subsidiaries are carried out in local currencies with, wherever possible, both income
and expenditure being in the currency of that location. Net exposures are identified and
appropriate management strategies put in place on a case-by-case basis. The Group does not
currently have any currency derivative instruments in place.
Procurement
Third-party expenditure is governed by a procurement policy and purchases of goods and
services of more than a defined amount are subject to a tender process and contracts are put in
place.
2.13 OPERATIONAL PLAN 2018/19
The following sets out some of the key organisational objectives for 2018/19.
Education Services Group
• Win large contracts in each region, ensuring high-impact results through high-quality
delivery.
• Diversify our client base in each region.
• Develop and deliver new education services based on research and development.
• Further enhance evidence-led, adaptive project and programme management capability,
linked to our impact framework.
• Develop a clear approach to key strategic partnerships in each region.
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Research and Consultancy Group
• Ensure the commercial success of our consultancy offer.
• Produce a programme of technically excellent, influential public research.
• Lead the company-wide development of our education methods through research and
development.
• Ensure effective partnership with the Education Services Group.
Independent Schools Group
• Promote outstanding outcomes for our students.
• Continue to support our schools with investment and responsive central services.

3

STRUCTURE, GOVERNANCE AND MANAGEMENT

3.1 STRUCTURE
Education Development Trust is a charity registered in England and Wales and has international
and UK trading subsidiaries. We deliver education programmes to governments and donor
agencies, provide education reform consultancy services, run a small group of independent
(private) schools and invest in a programme of education research.
In Brunei, CfBT Education Services (B) Sdn Bhd, a majority-owned subsidiary, is engaged in the
supplying of education system reform services and English language teachers to the Sultanate’s
public school system. The principal activities of the EDT Middle East Educational Consultancy
LLC, registered in Abu Dhabi, are to provide educational consultancy and support for schools.
Active trading subsidiary companies also operate in India, Malaysia and South Africa.
3.2 GOVERNANCE
Education Development Trust was incorporated on 31 December 1965 and received charitable
status on 20 February 1976. The Charity is governed by its Articles of Association, last amended
in July 2017.
Board structure
The Board of Trustees meets every two months to determine strategy and policies and review
performance. It is responsible for the approval of budgets, financial statements and new
investments, delegating specific responsibilities to its committees. Details of the trustees who
served throughout the year (except as noted) are set out in Section 4.
There are three permanent committees of the Board of Trustees which report to the Board on
their meetings and activities.
•

The Audit and Finance Committee meets four times a year as a minimum. The committee
provides an independent oversight of the Group’s systems of internal control, risk
management and compliance. It also monitors the Group’s financial policies and financial
management.

•

The Education Impact Committee meets three times a year to review the educational
impact of the organisation’s activities. It also has the remit to commission educational
research. The secretariat for the committee is provided by the Research and Consultancy
Group.

•

The Executive Remuneration Committee meets twice a year. It has responsibility for
benchmarking and determining the remuneration and benefits strategy for executive
management and for overseeing the remuneration strategy for all employees in the Group.
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Teacher and
leadership
development
We work with teachers
and school leaders around
the world to improve
learner outcomes. Our
work with teachers
focuses on specialist
professional development
to deliver high impact
teaching while we support
leaders to become agents
of change in their own
school and beyond.
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•

Ensure effective partnership with the Education Services Group.

Independent
Schools
Group
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Promote outstanding outcomes for our students.
Continue to support our schools with investment and responsive central services.

STRUCTURE, GOVERNANCE AND MANAGEMENT

3.1 STRUCTURE
Education Development Trust is a charity registered in England and Wales and has international
and UK trading subsidiaries. We deliver education programmes to governments and donor
agencies, provide education reform consultancy services, run a small group of independent
(private) schools and invest in a programme of education research.
In Brunei, CfBT Education Services (B) Sdn Bhd, a majority-owned subsidiary, is engaged in the
supplying of education system reform services and English language teachers to the Sultanate’s
public school system. The principal activities of the EDT Middle East Educational Consultancy
LLC, registered in Abu Dhabi, are to provide educational consultancy and support for schools.
Active trading subsidiary companies also operate in India, Malaysia and South Africa.
3.2 GOVERNANCE
Education Development Trust was incorporated on 31 December 1965 and received charitable
status on 20 February 1976. The Charity is governed by its Articles of Association, last amended
in July 2017.
Board structure
The Board of Trustees meets every two months to determine strategy and policies and review
performance. It is responsible for the approval of budgets, financial statements and new
investments, delegating specific responsibilities to its committees. Details of the trustees who
served throughout the year (except as noted) are set out in Section 4.
There are three permanent committees of the Board of Trustees which report to the Board on
their meetings and activities.
•

The Audit and Finance Committee meets four times a year as a minimum. The committee
provides an independent oversight of the Group’s systems of internal control, risk
management and compliance. It also monitors the Group’s financial policies and financial
management.

•

The Education Impact Committee meets three times a year to review the educational
impact of the organisation’s activities. It also has the remit to commission educational
research. The secretariat for the committee is provided by the Research and Consultancy
Group.

•

The Executive Remuneration Committee meets twice a year. It has responsibility for
benchmarking and determining the remuneration and benefits strategy for executive
management and for overseeing the remuneration strategy for all employees in the Group.

The The
committee
committee
usesuses
Hay Hay
Group
Group
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UK benchmarking
data data
to review
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the reward
the reward
packages
packages
for for
the executive.
the executive.
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senior
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of staff,
of staff,
as required.
as required.
There
There
are two
are two
membership
membership
committees.
committees.
The The
members
members
of these
of these
committees,
committees,
the majority
the majority
of of
which
which
mustmust
be members
be members
who who
are not
arealso
not also
trustees,
trustees,
are appointed
are appointed
by the
byPresident:
the President:
•

The
• The
Nominations
Nominations
Committee
Committee
meets
meets
twicetwice
a year
a year
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nominate
nominate
and and
makemake
recommendations
recommendations
on the
onrecruitment
the recruitment
and appointment
and appointment
of trustees
of trustees
and members.
and members.

•

The
• The
Trustee
Trustee
Remuneration
Remuneration
Committee,
Committee,
meets
meets
as required
as required
(at least
(at least
onceonce
a year)
a year)
to review
to review
Board
performance
and provide
independent
oversight
the remuneration
the Board.
Board
performance
and provide
independent
oversight
of theofremuneration
of theofBoard.

Current
trustee
membership
of Board
committees
is indicated
against
trustee’s
name,
Current
trustee
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of Board
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is indicated
against
eacheach
trustee’s
name,
as as
in Section
4. Some
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portfolio-holders
chair
significant
subsidiaries.
listedlisted
in Section
4. Some
trustee
portfolio-holders
chair
significant
subsidiaries.
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which must be members who are not also trustees, are appointed by the President:
•

The Nominations Committee meets twice a year to identify, nominate and make
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recommendations on the recruitment and appointment of trustees and members.

•

The Trustee Remuneration Committee, meets as required (at least once a year) to review
Board performance and provide independent oversight of the remuneration of the Board.
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Current trustee membership of Board committees is indicated against each trustee’s name, as
listed in Section 4. Some trustee portfolio-holders chair significant subsidiaries.
Appointment and role of trustees
Applications for new trustees are sought by public advertisement including the internet, through
external advisers and through personal contact. The Nominations Committee interviews all
potential trustees and successful applicants are put forward for election by the membership of
the company. Trustees serve up to two terms of four years.
All new trustees are supported through an induction process, which includes meetings with the
Chief Executive, Corporate Governance team and operational Directors, as well as written
induction materials and relevant training.
Trustees are subject to a performance management process where individual training needs are
identified, and the Board carries out a self-evaluation periodically and in line with best practice.
Trustees are also encouraged to engage with our operational activities through visits to
programmes or knowledge-sharing events.
Trustee Indemnity Insurance
Trustee Indemnity Insurance provides insurance cover for charity trustees against claims which
may arise from their legitimate actions as trustees. As a matter of law, charities require authority
to purchase this type of insurance. In the case of Education Development Trust, that authority is
obtained from the Trust’s Articles of Association.
Charity Governance Code
The Charity intends to adopt the revised Charity Governance Code and is currently conducting a
review of its application of the principles of the Code. This will enable the Charity to report more
fully against the Code in the 2018/19 annual report.
3.3 RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES
The Board of Trustees is responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the financial
statements in accordance with the Companies Act 2006 and for being satisfied that the financial
statements give a true and fair view. The Board of Trustees is also responsible for preparing the
financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice). In considering its responsibilities, the Board has had
regard to the Charity Governance Code.
Charity and company law requires the Board of Trustees to prepare financial statements for
each financial year which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Charity and of the
surplus or deficit of the Charity for that year. As noted above, in preparing those financial
statements, the Board of Trustees is required to:
•

select suitable accounting policies and then16apply them consistently;

•

make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

•

state whether applicable accounting standards have been followed, subject to any material
departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements;

•

prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to
presume that the Charity will continue in business.

The Board of Trustees has overall responsibility for keeping proper accounting records that
show and explain the Charity’s transactions, disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the
financial position of the Charity and enable it to ensure that the financial statements comply with
the Companies Act 2006.
The Board of Trustees is also responsible for safeguarding
the assets of the Charity and hence
23
for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.
All of the current trustees have taken all the steps that they ought to have taken to make

•

make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

state whether applicable accounting standards have been followed, subject to any material
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departures
disclosed
and explained in the financial statements;
•

•

prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to
presume that the Charity will continue in business.

The Board of Trustees has overall responsibility for keeping proper accounting records that
show and explain the Charity’s transactions, disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the
financial position of the Charity and enable it to ensure that the financial statements comply with
the Companies Act 2006.
The Board of Trustees is also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Charity and hence
for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.
All of the current trustees have taken all the steps that they ought to have taken to make
themselves aware of any information needed by the Charity’s auditors for the purposes of their
audit and to establish that the auditors are aware of that information. The Trustees are not aware
of any relevant audit information of which the auditors are unaware.
3.4 MANAGEMENT
The activity of the Charity is organised in three operational groups.
Education Services
This group brings together all our large-scale international and UK programmes. The key
components of this group are: South-East Asia region; Middle East, North Africa and India
region; Sub-Saharan Africa region; UK Contracts; and Careers.
Research and Consultancy
This group incorporates our consultancy business and our research activity. It also manages the
Alexandria Schools Trust restricted fund.
Independent Schools
The group includes our four independent (private) schools: three in the UK and one in South
Africa.
3.5 STAFF
During the period under review, Education Development Trust employed an average of
approximately 1,000 staff worldwide. During the year, we have provided training for employees
at all levels. We believe in providing training and development for educators and managers, and
in extending opportunities impartially to all. All our employment decisions, policies and practices
are made without regard to an individual’s gender, race, colour, religion, creed, sexual
preference or national origin. We support the employment of disabled people wherever possible
and are an Equal Opportunities Employer. Education Development Trust consults and informs
staff through a variety of methods, including internal newsletters, intranet, individual and group
meetings, CEO and other corporate communications, staff surveys and formal communications
to areas of the business affected by organisational change.
3.6 RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
Education Development Trust’s Board of Trustees has responsibility for ensuring the appropriate
financial and non-financial controls are in place to provide reasonable, but not absolute,
17
assurance against inappropriate use of resources and against the risk of errors or fraud. It also
supports the achievement of the organisation’s policies, aims and objectives.
Risk management
The Audit and Finance Committee oversees the Trust’s risk management framework on behalf
of the Trustees. Due to the complexity of the organisation the Board considers risk appetite in
relation to specific areas of sensitivity, such as working in dangerous environments and
safeguarding in international environments, rather than setting a generic risk appetite framework.
Education Development Trust operates a formal risk management process which is incorporated
within its system of internal control. This is integrated into the organisation, with clear risk
ownership at every level to enable management of the risk profile. Operating at all levels of the
organisation from individual programmes up 24to Group level, exposure to risk is regularly
reviewed and escalated. Exposures are assessed before and after existing controls, and where
these are regarded as inadequate further measures are devised and implemented. Risks are

supports the achievement of the organisation’s policies, aims and objectives.
Risk management
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The Audit and Finance Committee oversees the Trust’s risk management framework on behalf
of the Trustees. Due to the complexity of the organisation the Board considers risk appetite in
relation to specific areas of sensitivity, such as working in dangerous environments and
safeguarding in international environments, rather than setting a generic risk appetite framework.
Education Development Trust operates a formal risk management process which is incorporated
within its system of internal control. This is integrated into the organisation, with clear risk
ownership at every level to enable management of the risk profile. Operating at all levels of the
organisation from individual programmes up to Group level, exposure to risk is regularly
reviewed and escalated. Exposures are assessed before and after existing controls, and where
these are regarded as inadequate further measures are devised and implemented. Risks are
escalated to the appropriate organisational level based on their scope and significance. Risk
management is a key agenda item at quarterly business review meetings, which are attended by
all senior managers and the Leadership Team. Reports are made to the Audit and Finance
Committee which reviews and provides further challenge. The Board receives reports on
strategic risks on a quarterly basis.
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Internal control
The Audit and Finance Committee provides independent oversight of the effectiveness of the
systems of internal control and is responsible for reviewing and approving the annual internal
audit programme, reviewing the key findings of the internal audit reports as well as monitoring
the implementation of accepted recommendations. The committee also meets at least twice a
year with the external auditors, both with and without management, to discuss the annual
statutory audit and any internal control weaknesses identified in the management letter.
The key components of Education Development Trust’s internal control and risk management
environment include:
•
•
••
••
•
••
•
•
•
•

a three-year strategic plan approved by the Board of Trustees against which performance is
monitored;
an annual plan and budget approved by the Board of Trustees;
regular consideration
of organisational
– Board
educational
impact,
consideration
of the financial
results of theperformance
Group by the
of Trustees
andcontractual
executive
delivery,
financial
performance
and
risk
management
–
through
three
Quarterly
Business
management, based on monthly management reports with variances to budget
and/or
Review
meetings
each
year;
forecast;
delegation
of authority and
segregation of duties;
regular consideration
of organisational
performance – educational impact, contractual
processes
for identifying
and managing
compliance with
relevantthree
legislation
and Business
with the
delivery, financial
performance
and risk management
– through
Quarterly
requirements
of
regulatory
bodies;
Review meetings each year;
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andprocedures
segregationfor
of staff,
duties;including policies on safeguarding, whistleblowing,
health
and safety,and
andmanaging
serious incident
reporting;
processes
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with relevant legislation and with the
an
outsourcedofinternal
audit
function which is responsible for a rolling programme of riskrequirements
regulatory
bodies;
based
auditspolicies
designed
review the effectiveness
of internal
control
processes across
the
operational
andtoprocedures
for staff, including
policies
on safeguarding,
whistleGroup
and
to
provide
recommendations
to
strengthen
the
control
environment,
the
results
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blowing, health and safety, and serious incident reporting;
which
are
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to
management
and
the
Audit
and
Finance
Committee.
an outsourced internal audit function which is responsible for a rolling programme of risk-

based audits designed to review the effectiveness of internal control processes across the
In particular,
committed
to safeguarding
and havethe
zero
tolerance
for any form
of harm,
Group andwe
to are
provide
recommendations
to strengthen
control
environment,
the results
of
abuse,
neglect
or
exploitation
of
beneficiaries,
staff
and
all
who
come
into
contact
with
the
Trust.
which are reported to management and the Audit and Finance Committee.
This accountability rests with the Trustees, who have delegated operational responsibility
through
the Executive
and the Corporate
Safeguarding
Committee.
In particular,
we are committed
to safeguarding
and have
zero tolerance for any form of harm,
abuse, neglect or exploitation of beneficiaries, staff and all who come into contact with the Trust.
This accountability rests with the Trustees, who have delegated operational responsibility
The
Trustees’
Annual Report
Strategic
Report was Committee.
approved by the Board of Trustees on 12
through
the Executive
and theand
Corporate
Safeguarding
December 2018 and signed on its behalf by:
The Trustees’ Annual Report and Strategic Report was approved by the Board of Trustees on 12
December 2018 and signed on its behalf by:
Ilse Howling
Chair
12 December 2018
Ilse Howling
Chair
12 December 2018
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Schoolto-school
collaboration
We have been at the
vanguard of collaborative
school improvement and
both global experience
and our own deep
experience of school-toschool collaboration show
that it doesn’t happen
on its own. We help
schools to develop the
capabilities to collaborate
with purpose and rigour,
and ensure that precious
resources are used most
efficiently.
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REFERENCE AND ADMINISTRATIVE DETAILS OF THE CHARITY,
ITS TRUSTEES AND ADVISERS

4.1 CHARITY DETAILS
Name

Education Development Trust

Registered Charity

Charity Number 270901

Company Limited by Guarantee

Company Number 867944

Registered & Principal Office

Highbridge House, 16–18 Duke Street,
Reading RG1 4RU

Website

www.educationdevelopmenttrust.com

Email

enquiries@educationdevelopmenttrust.com

Telephone

0118 902 1000

Fax

0118 902 1410

4.2 TRUSTEES
The following trustees served throughout the period to which this report relates unless otherwise
indicated. (Current membership of Board sub-committees is also indicated.)
Philip Graf CBE – (Chair, Nominations Committee, Executive Remuneration Committee) until
November 2018
Ilse Howling – (Chair, Nominations Committee, Executive Remuneration Committee) from
November 2018
Alison Macleod – (Nominations Committee, Chair of Executive Remuneration Committee) until
November 2018
Angela McFarlane – (Education Impact Committee)
Christine Gilbert – (Education Impact Committee, Executive Remuneration Committee)
David Hawker – (Chair of Education Impact Committee)
Jonathan Owen – (Audit and Finance Committee) until September 2018
Julia Grant – (Audit and Finance Committee, Executive Remuneration Committee)
Peter Rawlinson – (Audit and Finance Committee)
Robert Humphreys – (Chair of Audit and Finance Committee)
Yetunde Hofmann – (Chair of Executive Remuneration Committee) from November 2018
4.3 MEMBERS
As at 31 August 2018, Education Development Trust had 34 members. The members take an
active role in Education Development Trust’s work and share their educational experience and
expertise for the benefit of the Trust. The membership appoints the Trustees and is responsible
for reviewing the work of the Trust, principally at the Annual General Meeting.
4.4 PRESIDENT AND VICE PRESIDENT
Throughout the period, Sir Jim Rose and Sara Hodson acted as President and Vice President
respectively (both were appointed 30 April 2015).
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4.5 EXECUTIVE
The Executive is responsible for the operational management of the organisation and, through
the Chief Executive, reports to the Board of Trustees or its committees.
Patrick Brazier (Chief Executive)
Anna Searle (Education Services Director) from October 2017
Tony McAleavy (Research and Consultancy Director)
Bob Miles (Finance and Corporate Services Director; Company Secretary)
Darren Coxon (Independent Schools Director) until December 2017
4.6 BANKERS AND PROFESSIONAL ADVISERS
Bankers

Lloyds Bank Plc
24 Broad Street
Reading
RG1 2BT

Investment
Managers

Newton Investment
Management Limited
160 Queen Victoria Street
London EC4V 4LA

HSBC Global Asset
Management
78 St James’s Street
London
SW1A 1HL

Legal
Advisers

Clarkslegal LLP
One Forbury Square
The Forbury
Reading
RG1 3EB

Winckworth Sherwood
LLP
Minerva House
5 Montague Close
London
SE1 9BB

Auditors

BDO LLP
2 City Place
Beehive Ring Road
Gatwick, West Sussex
RH6 0PA

Veale Wasbrough Vizards
Narrow Quay House
Narrow Quay
Bristol
BS1 4QA
Legal
Advisers
(International)

Trowers & Hamlins LLP
3 Bunhill Row
London
EC1Y 8YZ
DX 774 Lon/City

Legal
Advisers
(Pensions)
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Charles Russell
Speechlys LLP
5 Fleet Place,
London
EC4M 7RD

Accountability
We are a world authority
on school inspection
and evaluation having
inspected schools around
the world for more than
20 years. We work with
governments to raise
standards in schools
through accountability:
we support better
education metrics,
inspection and quality
assurance systems and
help policymakers and
practitioners use data for
decision-making
and accountability at
all levels.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO MEMBERS OF
EDUCATION DEVELOPMENT TRUST

Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of Education Development Trust (‘the Parent
Charitable Company’) and its subsidiaries (‘the Group’) for the year ended 31 August 2018
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial activities, the Group and Charity balance
sheet, the consolidated statement of cash flows and notes to the financial statements, including
a summary of significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that has been
applied in their preparation is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards,
including Financial Reporting Standard 102 The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the
UK and Republic of Ireland (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).
In our opinion, the financial statements:
•

•
•

give a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s and of the Parent Charitable Company’s
affairs as at 31 August 2018 and of the Group’s incoming resources and application of
resources and the Parent Charitable Company’s incoming resources and application of
resources for the year then ended;
have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice;
have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK))
and applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group and the Parent Charitable Company in accordance with the ethical
requirements relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s
Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion.
Conclusions related to going concern
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the ISAs (UK)
require us to report to you where:
•
•

the Trustees’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial
statements is not appropriate; or
the Trustees have not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material
uncertainties that may cast significant doubt about the Group or the Parent Charitable
Company’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting for a period of
at least 12 months from the date when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

Other information
The other information comprises the information included in the Annual Report, other than the
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. The other information comprises: the
Trustees’ Annual Report and the Strategic Report. The Trustees are responsible for the other
information.
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Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the
extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material
misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material misstatement in the
financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information,
we are required to report that fact.
We have nothing to report in this regard.
Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:
•
•

the information given in the Trustees’ Report, which includes the Directors’ Report and the
Strategic Report prepared for the purposes of Company Law, for the financial year for which
the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements;
the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report, which are included in the Trustees’ Report,
have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the Group and the Parent Charitable
Company and its environment obtained in the course of the audit, we have not identified material
misstatement in the Strategic Report or the Trustee’s Report.
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Companies
Act 2006 requires us to report to you if, in our opinion:
•
•
•
•

adequate accounting records have not been kept by the Parent Charitable Company, or
returns adequate for our audit have not been received from branches not visited by us; or
the Parent Charitable Company financial statements are not in agreement with the
accounting records and returns; or
certain disclosures of Directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or
we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

Responsibilities of Trustees
As explained more fully in the Trustees’ responsibilities statement, the Trustees (who are also
the directors of the charitable company for the purposes of company law) are responsible for the
preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view,
and for such internal control as the Trustees determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, the Trustees are responsible for assessing the Group’s
and the Parent Charitable Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the Trustees either intend to liquidate the Group or the Parent Charitable Company or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
We have been appointed as auditor under the Companies Act 2006 and report in accordance
with the Act and relevant regulations made or having effect thereunder.
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance,
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.
A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located at
the
Financial
Reporting
Council’s
(‘FRC’s’)
website
at:
https://www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor’s report.
Use of our report
This report is made solely to the Charitable Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with
Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that
we might state to the Charitable Company’s members those matters we are required to state to
them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we
do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Charitable Company and the
Charitable Company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions
we have formed.

Fiona Condron (Senior Statutory Auditor)
For and on behalf of BDO LLP, statutory auditor
Gatwick
Date:
BDO LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales (with registered
number OC305127).
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School
management
and ownership
We own four highperforming private
schools – three in the
UK and one in South
Africa. While all very
different in character,
with unique identities as
befit their strong roles in
their local communities,
they all share deeprooted common values
and principles and are
committed to providing
an excellent education.
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6 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND NOTES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL ACTIVITIES
For the year ended 31 August 2018

INCOME
Income from investments
Dividends receivable
Rental income
Interest income
Income from charitable activities
Education Services
Research and Consultancy
Independent Schools
Total income
EXPENDITURE
Expenditure on raising funds
Investment manager’s fees
Other costs
Expenditure on charitable activities
Education Services
Research and Consultancy
Independent Schools
Total expenditure

Notes

1c

1c

2a

1d
1d

5

Total income less total expenditure

Year to
Year to
General Restricted 31 August 2018 31 August 2017
Fund
Funds
Restated*
Total
Total
£’000
£’000
£’000
£’000

103
415
76

172
-

275
415
76

277
405
49

58,059
3,979
11,185
73,817

172

58,059
3,979
11,185
73,989

50,915
5,342
11,032
68,020

425

41
-

41
425

42
413

55,269
4,079
11,512
71,285

(22)
432
2
453

55,247
4,511
11,514
71,738

50,245
5,548
10,694
66,942

2,532

(281)

2,251

1,078

Disposal of subsidiaries
Net gains on investments
Net income / (expenditure) before transfers

10
9
2b

290
2,822

73
(208)

363
2,614

20,262
755
22,095

Transfers between funds
Net income / (expenditure)

13
2b

(2)
2,820

2
(206)

2,614

22,095

15

538
(251)
287

119
119

657
(251)
406

2,603
285
2,888

Net movement in funds before minority interest
Less: Minority interest
Net movement in funds after minority interest

3,107
(1,402)
1,705

(87)
(87)

3,020
(1,402)
1,618

24,983
(798)
24,185

Balance brought forward at 1 September 2017

21,207

5,728

26,935

2,750

Balance carried forward at 31 August 2018

22,912

5,641

28,553

26,935

Other recognised gains and losses
Actuarial gain on defined benefit pension schemes
Exchange (loss) / gain on conversion of subsidiaries
Total recognised gains for current period

*The charitable activity categories have been revised to better reflect the objectives of the organisation.
The statement of financial activities includes all gains and losses recognised in the year. All income and expenditure is
derived from continuing activities.
The notes on pages 41 to 63 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL ACTIVITIES – CHARITY ONLY
For the year ended 31 August 2018

Notes

INCOME
Income from investments
Dividends receivable
Rental income
Interest income

1c

Year to
Year to
31 August 2018 31 August 2017
General Restricted
Restated*
Fund
Funds
Total
Total
£’000
£’000
£’000
£’000

1,502
412
30

172
-

1,674
412
30

1,264
404
7

27,857
3,979
9,292

-

27,857
3,979
9,292

16,933
5,346
9,333

285

-

285

-

43,357

172

43,529

33,287

425

41
-

41
425

42
413

28,524
4,324
9,999
43,272

432
473

28,524
4,756
9,999
43,745

17,201
5,999
9,671
33,326

85

(301)

(216)

(39)

9

290
375

73
(228)

363
147

755
716

15

538
538

-

538
538

2,119
2,119

913

(228)

685

2,835

Balance brought forward at 1 September 2017

12,436

5,841

18,277

15,442

Balance carried forward at 31 August 2018

13,349

5,613

18,962

18,277

Income from charitable activities
Education Services
Research and Consultancy
Independent Schools
Other income

1c

8

Total income
EXPENDITURE
Expenditure on raising funds
Investment manager’s fees
Other costs
Expenditure on charitable activities
Education Services
Research and Consultancy
Independent Schools
Total expenditure

1d
1d

Total income less total expenditure
Net gains on investments
Net income / (expenditure)
Other recognised gains and losses
Actuarial gain on defined benefit pension schemes
Total recognised gains
Net movement in funds

*The charitable activity categories have been revised to better reflect the objectives of the organisation.
The statement of financial activities includes all gains and losses recognised in the year. All income and expenditure is
derived from continuing activities.
The notes on pages 41 to 63 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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BALANCE SHEETS
As at 31 August 2018

-----------GROUP------------As at
31/08/18

As at
31/08/17

£’000

-----------CHARITY----------As at
31/08/18

As at
31/08/17

£’000

£’000

£’000

FIXED ASSETS

Notes

Tangible assets
Investments
Investments in Group undertakings
Total fixed assets

1f, 8
1h, 9
10

8,546
10,672
19,218

8,858
9,589
18,447

7,002
10,672
203
17,877

6,797
9,589
1,088
17,474

11

14,606
18,487
33,093

17,174
15,927
33,101

9,519
5,552
15,071

9,742
5,938
15,680

12

(18,662)
14,431

(19,418)
13,683

(13,549)
1,522

(13,800)
1,880

33,649

32,130

19,399

19,354

(862)
422

(842)
(378)

(840)
403

(819)
(258)

NET ASSETS

33,209

30,910

18,962

18,277

CHARITABLE FUNDS
General fund (excluding defined benefit pension schemes)
Restricted funds
13
SUB TOTAL FUNDS (excluding pension liabilities)

22,509
5,622
28,131

21,465
5,848
27,313

12,946
5,613
18,559

12,694
5,841
18,535

Defined benefit pension asset / (liability) – general fund
15
Defined benefit pension asset / (liability) – restricted funds 15
TOTAL FUNDS (excluding Minority Interest)

403
19
28,553

(258)
(120)
26,935

403
18,962

(258)
18,277

Minority interests

4,656

3,975

-

-

TOTAL FUNDS

33,209

30,910

18,962

18,277

CURRENT ASSETS
Debtors:
Amounts falling due within one year
Cash at bank and in hand
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Creditors:
Amounts falling due within one year
Net current assets
Total assets less current liabilities
Provision for liabilities and charges
Defined benefit pension schemes

14
15

The notes on pages 41 to 63 form an integral part of these financial statements.
The financial statements were approved by the Board and signed on its behalf by:

Ilse Howling
Chair
Dated: 12 December 2018
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
For the year ended 31 August 2018

Year to
31 August 2018

Year to
31 August 2017

£’000

£’000

Net income for the year

2,614

22,095

Adjustments for:
Depreciation on tangible fixed assets
Goodwill impairment
Loss / (Profit) on sale of tangible fixed assets
Disposal of subsidiaries
Decrease / (increase) in debtors
(Decrease) / increase in creditors
Increase / (decrease) in provisions
Less dividends receivable
Less interest receivable
Post-retirement benefits adjustment
Dividends paid to minority interest
Gains on investments
Exchange loss / (gain) on fixed assets
Exchange gain on minority interest
Exchange loss / (gain) on conversion of cash
Exchange (loss) / gain on conversion of opening reserves of foreign subsidiaries

1,040
20
2,568
(756)
20
(275)
(76)
(147)
(717)
(363)
192
82
(251)

1,023
5
(15)
(20,262)
(4,550)
3,640
(125)
(277)
(49)
(242)
(409)
(755)
(185)
4
(1)
285

Net cash generated from operating activities

3,951

182

Interest received
Dividends received from investments
Purchase of tangible fixed assets
Sale of tangible fixed assets
Purchase of fixed asset investments
Sale of fixed asset investments
Goodwill on purchase of assets

76
275
(966)
26
(3,091)
2,553
-

49
277
(516)
33
(3,207)
4,406
(5)

Net cash (used in) / generated from investing activities

(1,127)

1,037

2,824

1,219

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year
Change in cash and cash equivalents due to exchange rate movements

15,999
(82)

14,779
1

Total cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

18,741

15,999

Cash and cash equivalents:
Cash at bank and in hand
Cash at investments managers – money market deposits

18,487
254

15,927
72

Total cash and cash equivalents

18,741

15,999

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents in the year

The notes on pages 41 to 63 form an integral part of these financial statements.
28

40

6: CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND NOTES

ANNUAL REPORT 2017/18

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 August 2018
1.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
a. Basis of accounting and consolidation
The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for investments which
are included at market value. The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Accounting and
Reporting by Charities: Statement of Recommended Practice applicable to charities preparing their accounts in
accordance with the Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102)
(effective 1 January 2015) – (Charities SORP (FRS 102)), the Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK
and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102) and the Companies Act 2006.
The accounts of the Charity have been prepared on a going concern basis.
The preparation of financial statements in compliance with FRS 102 requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires the Group’s management to exercise judgement in applying the Group’s accounting
policies (see note 1b).
In preparing the separate financial statements of the parent charity, advantage has been taken of the following
disclosure exemptions available in FRS 102:
- no cash flow statement has been prepared for the parent charity;
- no disclosure has been given for the aggregate remuneration of the key management personnel of the parent
charity because their remuneration is included in the totals for the Group as a whole.
All branches are consolidated fully within the Charity. The results and balance sheet of Education Development
Trust and its subsidiaries have been consolidated on a line-by-line basis.
The consolidated Statement of Financial Activities includes the financial activities of the Charity and its subsidiaries
up to 31 August. The results of subsidiaries acquired or sold are included in the consolidated Statement of
Financial Activities from, or up to, the date control passes. Intra-group transactions are eliminated fully on
consolidation.
On acquisition of subsidiaries, all of the assets and liabilities that exist at the date of acquisition are recorded at
their fair values reflecting their condition at that date. Where the acquisition is akin to a gift (for example, the Group
is given control of another entity with net assets and a sound business plan) the fair value of the assets and
liabilities acquired is treated as a donation, and then accounted for in line with accounting policy 1e below. All other
acquisitions are accounted for in accordance with policy 1e below. All changes to those assets and liabilities and
the resulting surpluses or deficits that arise after the Group has gained control of the subsidiary are charged to the
post-acquisition Statement of Financial Activities.
The Charity meets the definition of a public benefit entity under FRS 102.
A summary of the accounting policies, which have been applied consistently, is set out below.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 August 2018
1.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
b. Critical accounting judgements and estimations
In preparing the ﬁnancial statements, the Trustees are required to make estimates and judgements. The items in
the financial statements where these judgements and estimates have been made include:
(i) Actuarial assumptions in respect of defined benefit pension schemes – Actuarial valuations of deﬁned beneﬁt
pension schemes are incorporated in the ﬁnancial statements in accordance with FRS 102. The actuarial valuation
process involves making assumptions about discount rates, future salary increases, mortality rates and future
pension increases. Due to the complexity of the valuation, the underlying assumptions and the long-term nature of
these plans, such estimates are subject to significant uncertainty. In applying FRS 102, advice is taken from
independent qualiﬁed actuaries.
(ii) Pension scheme deficit reduction payments – There is a deﬁcit reduction plan in place in respect of Education
Development Trust’s membership of the Pension Trust’s Growth Plan (see note 15). FRS 102 requires a liability to
be recognised in respect of the present value of future contributions payable under the terms of the deﬁcit recovery
plan. The incorporation of this liability in the ﬁnancial statements involves the exercise of judgement in several
areas, including the selection of an appropriate discount rate.
(iii) Bad debts – The estimate for receivables relates to the recoverability of the balances outstanding at the year
end. A review is performed on an individual debtor basis to consider whether each debt is recoverable.
(iv) Accruals – The estimate for payables relates to the liabilities not settled at the year end. A review is performed
on an individual creditor basis to estimate the amount that will be collected.
(v) Tangible Fixed Assets – A review is performed annually for indicators of impairment.
c. Income
In the Statement of Financial Activities, income is split between income received from investments and income
received from charitable activities.
Income from investments includes dividend income, rental income and interest income, and is included in the
Statement of Financial Activities on a receivable basis.
Income from charitable activities represents amounts receivable for goods and services provided in the UK and
overseas, net of taxes levied on sales.
The income has been split under the three key activities identified to meet the Charity's objectives: Education
Services, Research and Consultancy and Independent Schools.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 August 2018
1.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Income is included in the Statement of Financial Activities when the Group has entitlement to the funds, the amount
can be quantified, and receipt is probable. Specifically:
- income from tuition and nursery fees is recognised to the extent that the related services have been
provided;
- income from contracts is recognised using the stage of completion method which is equivalent to the
aggregate of related expenditure incurred plus a portion of estimated surplus. Anticipated losses on
contracts are charged to the Statement of Financial Activities in their entirety when losses become
evident.
Income received in advance of the performance of the service is treated as deferred income.
Any associated expenditure is accounted for according to the accruals concept.
Donations are recognised at their open market value in the period in which they are receivable as incoming
resources where the benefit to the Charity can be reliably measured. Where the donation relates to a fixed asset, it
is independently assessed to obtain the depreciated replacement cost and the asset is included in the appropriate
fixed asset category and depreciated over the remaining useful economic life in accordance with the Group policy.
d. Expenditure
Within the Statement of Financial Activities, expenditure is split between expenditure on raising funds and
expenditure on charitable activities.
Expenditure on raising funds includes charges made by the investment managers, Newton Investment
Management Limited and HSBC Global Asset Management (UK) Limited for the Group's portfolio management.
Expenditure on charitable activities has been split under the three key activities identified namely: Education
Services, Research and Consultancy and Independent Schools. Further detail of the work within each of these
areas is detailed in the Trustees' Report.
Expenditure incurred by subsidiaries is deemed to be direct operating expenditure. All expenditure is accounted for
on an accruals basis and has been classified under headings that aggregate all costs related to the category.
Where costs cannot be directly attributed to particular headings they have been allocated to activities on a fair
basis. All other indirect expenditure (including central support, development and governance costs) is allocated
based on the proportion of incoming resources of that activity as a percentage of the Group incoming resources.
Development expenses, which include marketing expenses, both those of a promotional nature and those specific
to negotiating and obtaining future projects, are written off in the period in which the expenses are incurred.
Where input VAT is not recoverable on work undertaken by the Group it is treated as a cost of that project and
reflected in the Statement of Financial Activities.
e. Intangible fixed assets
Intangible fixed assets represent goodwill arising on acquisitions less accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a subsidiary is the difference between the fair
value of the consideration paid and the fair value of the assets and liabilities acquired. It is capitalised and
amortised through the Statement of Financial Activities over the Trustees' estimate of its useful economic life which
ranges from five to ten years.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 August 2018
1.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
f.

Tangible fixed assets

Tangible fixed assets are stated at cost, less depreciation and any impairment losses. Depreciation is provided on
all tangible fixed assets at rates calculated to write off the cost, less estimated residual value, of each asset on a
straight-line basis over its expected useful life as follows:
Freehold property
Long-term leasehold property
Freehold improvements
Leasehold improvements
Office furniture and equipment
Motor vehicles
Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP) system
Other computer equipment, software and IT infrastructure

Buildings over a period of 30 years or expected
remaining useful life, whichever is shorter.
Land is not depreciated.
Buildings over a period of 30 years or expected
remaining useful life, whichever is shorter.
Land is depreciated over the life of the lease.
10%
Over lease term or remaining contract period,
whichever is shorter.
20%
25%
10%
20% to 33%

For office furniture, equipment and computer equipment purchased second-hand, the depreciation rate is 50%
straight-line.
Where assets are held for a specific contract, those assets are written off over the shorter of the estimated life of
the asset and the underlying contract.
Where assets are purchased by the Group but are to be handed back to the funder at the end of the contract,
ownership is deemed not to have transferred from the funder and the cost is expensed immediately.
The Group policy is not to capitalise items costing under £1,000. VAT is normally excluded in the cost of the capital
item unless it is irrecoverable, in which case it is treated as part of the cost of that asset.
Tangible fixed assets transferred to the Group for no consideration are reflected within fixed assets at the point of
transfer. The assets are independently valued and included in the statements at depreciated replacement cost
which equates to fair value and then depreciated according to the Group policy.
g. Impairment of fixed assets and goodwill
Assets that are subject to depreciation or amortisation are assessed at each reporting date to determine whether
there is any indication that the assets are impaired. Where there is any indication that an asset may be impaired,
the carrying value of the asset is tested for impairment. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which
the asset's carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's
fair value less costs to sell and value in use. Non-financial assets that have been previously impaired are reviewed
at each reporting date to assess whether there is any indication that the impairment losses recognised in prior
periods may no longer exist or may have decreased.
h. Investments
Investments in subsidiaries are measured at cost less accumulated impairment.
Other fixed asset investments comprise investment portfolios. The valuations of the investment portfolios were
performed by the Group's investment managers, Newton Investment Management Limited and HSBC Global Asset
Management (UK) Limited. Gains and losses are recognised in net income/expenditure in the Statement of
Financial
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1. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Activities. All investment income is derived from quoted investments and recorded in the books of the Charity
when received.
i.

Financial instruments

The Charity only has financial assets and liabilities of a kind which qualify as basic financial instruments. Basic
ﬁnancial instruments are initially recognised at transaction
value and subsequently measured at their settlement
44
value.
Trade and other debtors are recognised at the settlement amount due after any trade discount offered.
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Management (UK) Limited. Gains and losses are recognised in net income/expenditure in the Statement of
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For the year ended 31 August 2018
1. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Activities. All investment income is derived from quoted investments and recorded in the books of the Charity
when received.
i.

Financial instruments

The Charity only has financial assets and liabilities of a kind which qualify as basic financial instruments. Basic
ﬁnancial instruments are initially recognised at transaction value and subsequently measured at their settlement
value.
Trade and other debtors are recognised at the settlement amount due after any trade discount offered.
Prepayments are valued at the amount prepaid net of any trade discounts due.
Cash at bank and cash in hand includes cash and short-term highly liquid investments with a short maturity of three
months or less from the date of acquisition or opening of the deposit or similar account.
Creditors and provisions are recognised where the Charity has a present obligation resulting from a past event that
will probably result in the transfer of funds to a third party and the amount due to settle the obligation can be
measured or estimated reliably. Creditors and provisions are normally recognised at their settlement amount after
allowing for any trade discounts due.
j.

Pension scheme arrangements

(i) Defined contribution scheme
The parent charity and its subsidiaries operate defined contribution pension schemes whereby contributions are
charged against revenue as they are made.
(ii) Defined benefit scheme
The parent charity and one of its subsidiaries contributed to defined benefit pension schemes.
Pension assets and liabilities are recorded in line with FRS 102, with scheme valuations undertaken by
independent actuaries. FRS 102 measures the value of pension assets and liabilities at the balance sheet date and
determines the benefits accrued in the year and the interest on assets and liabilities.
Current service costs, together with the net interest cost for the year, are allocated to relevant expenditure
headings within the Statement of Financial Activities.
Scheme assets are measured at fair value at the balance sheet date. Scheme liabilities are measured on an
actuarial basis at the balance sheet date using the projected unit method and discounted at a rate equivalent to the
current rate of return on a high-quality corporate bond of equivalent term to the scheme liabilities.
The change in value of assets and liabilities arising from asset valuation, changes in beneﬁts, actuarial
assumptions, or change in the level of deﬁcit attributable to members, is recognised in the consolidated statement
of ﬁnancial activities within actuarial gains/losses on deﬁned beneﬁt pension schemes.
The resulting deﬁned beneﬁt asset or liability is presented separately on the face of the balance sheet. The Charity
recognises assets for its deﬁned beneﬁt pension schemes to the extent that they are considered recoverable
through reduced contributions in the future, or through refunds from the scheme.
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For the year ended 31 August 2018
1. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
k. Holiday pay accrual
A liability is recognised to the extent of any unused holiday pay entitlement which has accrued at the balance sheet
date and carried forward to future periods. This is measured at the undiscounted salary cost of the future holiday
entitlement so accrued at the balance sheet date.
l.

Operating leases

Rentals paid under leases are charged against income on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
m. Foreign currency translation
(i)

Functional and presentation currency

The individual financial statements of each group entity are presented in the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (the ‘functional currency’). The consolidated financial statements are
presented in Sterling, which is the Charity’s and the Group’s presentation currency.
(ii)

Transactions and balances

In preparing the financial statements of the individual entities, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of the individual entity are recognised at the spot rate at the dates of the transactions or at an average
rate where this rate approximates the actual rate at the date of the transaction. At the end of each reporting period,
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Nonmonetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated. Foreign
exchange differences that arise are recognised in profit or loss, within ‘Net income/expenditure’ in the Statement of
Financial Activities.
(iii)

Translation of group entities

For the purpose of presenting consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated from their functional currency to Sterling using the exchange rate ruling on the balance
sheet date. Income and expenses are translated using an average rate for the period, unless exchange rates
fluctuated significantly during that period, in which case the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions are
used. Exchange differences arising on translation of group companies are recognised within ‘Other recognised
gains/losses’ in the Statement of Financial Activities.
n. Awards and grants
Resources expended are accounted for when commitments are made to grant recipients.
o. Restricted funds
The Charity and Group reserves are allocated to two separate types or funds: restricted funds and unrestricted
funds. Restricted funds are those relating to income which may only be used for specific purposes. All other funds,
including designated funds, are unrestricted.
The Trustees may approve the transfer of funds from unrestricted to restricted funds if operating losses would
otherwise result in negative restricted funds being carried forward and it is not anticipated that future operating
profits will cover those losses.
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For the year ended 31 August 2018
2.

SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS
(a) Group income relating to operating activities
An analysis of Group turnover by geographical segment is given below:
United Kingdom
South Asia and South East Asia
Middle East
Africa
Europe and other

Year to
31 August 2018
£’000

Year to
31 August 2017
£’000

24,190
24,262
8,472
16,624
441
73,989

27,716
23,407
7,242
9,063
592
68,020

Within Africa income of £7.0m (2016/17: £5.5m) relates to the DFID Girls Education Challenge Kenya contract.
(b) Net income
An analysis of surplus / (deficit) by geographical segment is given below:
United Kingdom
South Asia and South East Asia
Middle East
Africa
Europe and other

£’000

£’000

(4,105)
4,027
1,505
1,088
99
2,614

17,834
3,272
240
355
394
22,095

The United Kingdom net income figure for 2016/17 includes a gain of £20,262,000 relating to the disposal of a
subsidiary. Excluding this amount, the net deficit would be £2,428,000.
3.

STAFF AND TEACHER COSTS

Wages and salaries
Redundancy, termination or ex gratia payments
Social security costs
Pensions
Temporary staff
Seconded staff

Year to
31 August 2018
£’000

Year to
31 August 2017
£’000

32,078
368
1,426
1,015
194
35,081

32,595
280
1,496
1,071
246
(8)
35,680

Redundancy, termination and ex gratia payments were incurred as part of the ongoing development of the
business.
Details of the amount payable to defined contribution pension schemes in respect of staff are detailed in pensions
note 15a.
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For the year ended 31 August 2018
3.

STAFF AND TEACHER COSTS (continued)
Staff members whose total annual remuneration was in the ranges:
£60,000 – £69,999
£70,000 – £79,999
£80,000 – £89,999
£90,000 – £99,999
£100,000 – £109,999
£120,000 – £129,999
£130,000 – £139,999
£140,000 – £149,999
£160,000 – £169,999
£170,000 – £179,999
£180,000 – £189,999

Year to
31 August 2018
No. of Staff

Year to
31 August 2017
No. of Staff

11
12
4
1
4
3
2
3
1
41

13
8
7
2
5
1
1
1
38

Total employer pension contributions for the provision of money purchase schemes totalled £169,824 (2016/17:
£135,907) for those staff whose total remuneration was more than £60,000.

The number of staff whose remuneration was more than £60,000 to whom
retirement benefits are accruing under:
- money purchase schemes
- defined benefit schemes
By activity, the average monthly number of persons employed by the
Group during the period was:
Delivery staff
Services staff

Year to
31 August 2018
No. of Staff

Year to
31 August 2017
No. of Staff

25
2

21
2

863
176
1,039

933
171
1,104

Key management personnel
The total employment benefits of the key management personnel was £698,766 (2016/17: £785,919) and total
employer pension contributions for five people was £65,577 (2016/17; £55,237 for five people).
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4.

NET INCOME / EXPENDITURE
is stated after charging / (crediting)
Auditors’ remuneration:
Audit (Charity 2017/18: £43,500, 2016/17: £38,225)
Other
Depreciation (note 8)
Goodwill impairment (note 7)
Remuneration of the Board of Trustees (note 6)
Exchange differences
Governance costs
Operating lease rentals:
Hire of plant and machinery
Property
Loss / (Gain) on sale of tangible fixed assets

5.

Year to
31 August 2018
£’000

Year to
31 August 2017
£’000

55
1
1,040
122
(75)
187

55
1
1,023
5
125
105
199

64
1,191
20

3
1,181
(15)

ANALYSIS OF TOTAL EXPENDITURE – GROUP
Materials
Other Project
Production
Expenditure
Other
and Training
(including
Support
Year to
Year to
Delivery Premises depreciation) Expenditure 31 August 2018 31 August 2017

Direct Staff Costs

Support Staff
Costs

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

593

2,036
139
392
2,567

55,247
4,511
11,514
71,272

50,245
5,548
10,694
66,487

41
425
3,033

41
425
71,738

42
413
66,942

Expenditure on charitable activities
Education Services
Research and Consultancy
Independent Schools

23,345
1,962
6,560
31,867

2,549
174
491
3,214

2,282
29
3
2,314

1,401
1,994

24,442
2,207
2,667
29,316

Investment manager’s fees
Other costs
Total expenditure

-

-

-

-

-

31,867

3,214

2,314

1,994

29,316

-

All direct expenditure is charged to the relevant charitable activity on an accruals basis.
Expenditure has been shown under the main categories and split between direct and indirect costs. Other expenditure
includes consultancy fees and other costs incurred in order to meet the Charity’s contractual obligations. Other support
expenditure includes Central Finance, Human Resources, Information Technology, Marketing and Communication, and
governance costs.
Support, governance and development expenditure which is not directly attributable to a charitable activity has been
allocated based on the income of that activity as a proportion of the Group incoming resources. Governance costs are
reported in note 4.
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6.

TRANSACTIONS WITH TRUSTEES AND CONNECTED PARTIES
(a) Trustees’ remuneration and transactions
Recipient
P Graf
P Wood
T Walsh
A Macleod
D Hawker
P Rawlinson
C Gilbert
J Owen
B Humphreys
A McFarlane
J Grant

Year to
31 August 2018

Year to
31 August 2017

£

£

20,000
15,500
15,500
10,000
10,000
15,500
15,500
10,000
10,000
122,000

20,000
13,167
6,667
15,500
15,500
10,000
10,000
15,500
15,500
1,532
1,532
124,898

Nature
Remuneration
Remuneration
Remuneration
Remuneration
Remuneration
Remuneration
Remuneration
Remuneration
Remuneration
Remuneration
Remuneration

until 6 July 2017
until 28 April 2017

from 6 July 2017
from 6 July 2017

The Trustees were appointed under clauses 14.1 and 14.2 of the Memorandum and Articles of Association.
Trustees are remunerated monthly based on their role as trustee. Trustees with additional responsibilities such as
chair to a committee are remunerated at a higher level. The levels of remuneration were approved by the Charity
Commission in 2014/15.
(b) Expenses reimbursed to, and paid on behalf of, the Board of Trustees

Number of Board Members
2017/18
2016/17

Nature of expense
Travel expenses
Subsistence / meals / hospitality
Hotels / accommodation
Other expenses

6
9
1
-

Year to
31 August 2018
£

Year to
31 August 2017
£

8,953
1,085
594
10,632

6,090
1,805
1,003
16
8,914

6
9
4
1

(c) Transactions with connected parties
(i)

Subsidiary undertakings

The following management and other fees were charged by the Charity to its subsidiaries

CfBT Advice and Guidance Ltd
CfBT Education Services (B) Sdn Bhd
EDT Middle East Educational Consultancy LLC
(formerly CfBT for Education LLC)
International School of Cape Town (Pty) Ltd
CfBT Education Services and Partners LLC
CfBT Education Services (Malaysia) Sdn Bhd
CfBT Multimedia Education Sdn Bhd
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Year to
31 August 2018
£’000

Year to
31 August 2017
£’000

1,317

814
1,761

589
13
8
7

413
15
68
2
1
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6.

TRANSACTIONS WITH TRUSTEES AND CONNECTED PARTIES (continued)
The following balances were owed to / (owed by) the Charity at the year-end date:

CfBT Education Services (B) Sdn Bhd
EDT Middle East Educational Consultancy LLC
(formerly CfBT for Education LLC)
International School of Cape Town (Pty) Ltd
CfBT Multimedia Education Sdn Bhd
CfBT Education Services (Malaysia) Sdn Bhd
Monkton House Kings College (Cardiff) Educational Trust Ltd
League for the Exchange of Commonwealth Teachers
Waverley School (Waverley Way) Ltd

Year to
31 August 2018

Year to
31 August 2017

£’000

£’000

(485)
1,199
142
168
441
(10)
76

(284)
1,392
132
156
440
(1)
103

869

876

The above balances are repayable to the Charity; however, provisions have been made against balances where
repayment is doubtful.
CfBT Education Services and Partners LLC and CfBT Advice and Guidance Limited are no longer subsidiaries of
Education Development Trust. The balance outstanding from CfBT Education Services and Partners LLC of
£1,385,000 at 31 August 2018 (2017: £1,439,000) is therefore included within Trade Debtors.
(ii)

Other connected parties

Education Development Trust appoints two trustees to the Board of CfBT Schools Trust which is therefore treated as
a related party of the Charity. All transactions between the parties are made on an arms-length basis.
The related party transactions during the period to 31 August were:
Year to
31 August 2018

Year to
31 August 2017

£’000

£’000

598
57

776
47

19

15

1
100

2
-

Recovery of CfBT Schools Trust staff salary costs and expenses paid by Education
Development Trust on behalf of CfBT Schools Trust
Charge for Education Development Trust services supporting CfBT Schools Trust
Services provided to CfBT Schools Trust Schools within normal Education Development
Trust business
Services received from CfBT Schools Trust Schools as part of normal Education
Development Trust business
Donation made by Education Development Trust to CfBT Schools Trust

CfBT Schools Trust owed £63,934 (2016/17 £nil) to Education Development Trust as at 31 August 2018.
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7.

INTANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS

--------------Group--------------

--------------Charity--------------

GOODWILL
Cost
At 1 September
Additions
Disposals
At 31 August

2017/18
£’000

2016/17
£’000

2017/18
£’000

2016/17
£’000

9,639
(1,663)
7,976

9,786
5
(152)
9,639

9,631
(2,106)
7,525

9,626
5
9,631

Accumulated aggregate amortisation
At 1 September
Impairment
Disposals
At 31 August

(9,639)
1,663
(7,976)

(9,786)
(5)
152
(9,639)

(9,631)
2,106
(7,525)

(9,926)
(5)
(9,631)

-

-

-

-

Net book amount at 31 August
8.

TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS
Freehold
Property

Group

£’000

Long term
Leasehold
Leasehold Improvement
Property
£’000
£’000

Motor
Vehicles

Office
Fixtures

IT Systems &
Computers

Total

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

Cost
As at 1 September 2017
Additions
Transfers
Disposals
Exchange adjustment
As at 31 August 2018

4,636
1
(1,196)
(59)
(164)
3,218

1,196
1,196

5,462
272
(30)
5,704

542
82
(73)
(14)
537

1,315
190
45
(59)
(32)
1,459

4,481
421
(9)
(24)
4,869

16,436
966
45
(200)
(264)
16,983

Depreciation
As at 1 September 2017
Charge for year
Transfer
Eliminated on disposal
Exchange adjustment
As at 31 August 2018

1,504
79
(786)
(22)
(7)
768

40
786
826

2,018
373
(10)
2,381

350
72
(66)
(8)
348

1,074
112
45
(57)
(26)
1,148

2,632
364
(9)
(21)
2,966

7,578
1,040
45
(154)
(72)
8,437

Net book value at 31 August 2018

2,450

370

3,323

189

311

1,903

8,546

Net book value at 31 August 2017

3,132

-

3,444

192

241

1,849

8,858

The transfer relates to leasehold improvement costs previously being incorrectly classified under freehold property.
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8.

TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS (continued)

CHARITY
Cost
As at 1 September 2017
Additions
Disposals
Transfer
Exchange Adjustment
As at 31 August 2018

Freehold
Leasehold
Property Improvement
£’000
£’000

Motor
Vehicles
£’000

Office IT Systems and
Fixtures
Computers
£’000
£’000

Total
£’000

1,937
(45)
457
2,349

5,186
226
5,412

131
1
132

937
156
(50)
1,043

4,190
365
4,555

12,381
747
(95)
457
1
13,491

445
49
(22)
172
644

1,914
320
1
2,235

93
15
108

765
78
(48)
1
796

2,367
339
2,706

5,584
801
(70)
172
2
6,489

Net book value at 31 August 2018

1,705

3,177

24

247

1,849

7,002

Net book value at 31 August 2017

1,492

3,272

38

172

1,823

6,797

Depreciation
As at 1 September 2017
Charge for the year
Eliminated on disposal
Transfer
Exchange adjustment
As at 31 August 2018
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9.

FIXED ASSET INVESTMENTS
Portfolio structure

----------------------------Group and Charity---------------------------------31 August 2018-----%
£’000

------31 August 2017-----%
£’000

GBP bonds
International bonds
UK equities
International equities (other than UK)
Multi Asset Funds non-region specific
Other
Cash held by investment managers in money market funds

0.5%
6.4%
16.8%
21.4%
48.6%
3.9%
2.4%

51
682
1,798
2,277
5,190
420
254

0.6%
10.2%
18.9%
25.9%
38.7%
4.9%
0.8%

57
980
1,816
2,479
3,715
470
72

Market value as at 31 August

100%

10,672

100%

9,589

Movement in market value of investments

2017/18
£’000

2016/17
£’000

9,589

10,117

Additions
Disposals
Unrealised gains / (losses)
Realised gains
Increase / (decrease) in cash

3,091
(2,553)
226
137
182

3,207
(4,406)
(146)
901
(84)

Closing market value as at 31 August

10,672

9,589

Opening market value as at 1 September

Historical cost of investment portfolio

--------Group and Charity--------

Costs as at 31 August
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10.

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

The Charity holds investments in principal undertakings as follows:

Education Services
CfBT Education Services (B) Sdn Bhd

% Holding of
Net Assets/
Issued Share Turnover Expenditure (Liabilities)
Capital
£’000
£’000
£’000

Country of Company / Charity No
Registration
Brunei

n/a

55%

23,052

20,724

7,465

CfBT Multimedia Education Sdn Bhd

Malaysia

482193-M

100%

1

15

765

CfBT Education Services (Malaysia) Sdn Bhd

Malaysia

262696-M

100%

-

53

(1,047)

EDT Middle East Educational Consultancy LLC
(formerly CfBT for Education LLC)

Abu Dhabi

n/a

49%

8,872

6,877

6,475

League for the Exchange of Commonwealth
Teachers

Great Britain 4294081 / 1089920

100%

179

38

29

CfBT Education Services

India

n/a

100%

152

269

(28)

CfBT Education Resource Management
Private Ltd

India

n/a

100%

53

54

30

Independent Schools
International School of Cape Town (Pty) Ltd

South Africa 2002/026764/07 / n/a

100%

1,935

1,929

589

Waverley School (Waverley Way) Ltd

Great Britain 3181579 / n/a

100%

-

50

286

Monkton House Kings College (Cardiff)
Educational Development Trust Ltd

Great Britain 894179 / 525759

100%

-

2

(452)

The Charity has a 49% shareholding in EDT Middle East Educational Consultancy LLC (formerly CfBT for
Education LLC), a company which delivers education and training services in Abu Dhabi. The Charity has effective
control of the subsidiary and as such the subsidiary is fully consolidated within the Group.
Transactions with subsidiaries are detailed in the related parties note 6c.
INVESTMENTS DURING THE YEAR

Subsidiary
Investment Total
£’000

CHARITY
Cost as at 1 September 2017
Provision against investments
Cost as at 31 August 2018

1,088
(885)
203
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11.

DEBTORS
As at
31/08/18

Amounts falling due within one year

Trade debtors
Amounts owed by Group undertakings
Other debtors
Prepayments
Accrued income

12.

As at
31/08/18

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

5,198
2,333
713
6,362
14,606

8,684
3,178
820
4,492
17,174

3,544
2,113
669
523
2,670
9,519

3,620
1,543
553
646
3,380
9,742

As at
31/08/17

As at
31/08/18

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

1,475
844
972
3,999
4,199
7,173
18,662

1,630
854
718
3,242
3,338
9,636
19,418

1,419
551
844
358
1,343
2,917
6,117
13,549

1,487
341
850
375
1,270
2,085
7,392
13,800

As at
31/08/17

As at
31/08/18

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

9,636
(7,495)
5,032
7,173

4,552
(4,169)
9,253
9,636

7,392
(6,006)
4,731
6,117

4,521
(4,132)
7,003
7,392

As at
31/08/18

Trade creditors
Amounts owed to Group undertakings
Monies held on behalf of third parties
Taxation and social security
Other creditors
Accruals
Deferred income

As at
31/08/18

Movement in deferred income

Opening balance at 1 September
Utilised in the year
Income deferred in the year
Closing balance at 31 August
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Charity

As at
31/08/17

CREDITORS
Amounts falling due within one year

Group

Group

Group

Charity

Charity

As at
31/08/17

As at
31/08/17

As at
31/08/17
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13.

RESTRICTED FUNDS

League for the
Exchange of
Commonwealth
Teachers
£’000

Balance at 31 August 2016
Income
Expenditure

Kings
Monkton
College
£’000

Alexandria
Schools
Trust
£’000

Total
Restricted
Funds
£’000

(567)

-

5,708

5,141

-

-

175

175

(30)

-

(446)

(476)

Net gains on investments

-

-

404

404

Transfers

-

-

-

-

484

-

-

484

(113)
-

-

5,841
172

5,728
172

22

(2)

(473)

(453)

-

-

73

73

Other recognised gains
Balance at 31 August 2017
Income
Expenditure
Net gains on investments
Transfers

-

2

-

2

119

-

-

119

28

-

5,613

5,641

Tangible Fixed Assets / Investments

-

-

5,482

5,482

Current Assets (excluding Cash)

-

-

58

58

Other recognised gains
Balance at 31 August 2018

Restricted Fund Balance Sheet as at 31 August 2018

Cash

9

-

88

97

Current Liabilities

-

(452)

(15)

(467)

Transfers from General funds

-

452

-

452

Defined benefit pension scheme liabilities

19

-

-

19

Net Assets as at 31 August 2018

28

-

5,613

5,641

Tangible Fixed Assets / Investments

-

-

5,874

5,874

Current Assets (excluding Cash)

2

-

-

2

17

-

273

290

(12)

(450)

(306)

(768)

-

450

-

450

Defined benefit pension scheme liabilities

(120)

-

-

(120)

Net Assets as at 31 August 2017

(113)

-

5,841

5,728

Restricted Fund Balance Sheet as at 31 August 2017

Cash
Current Liabilities
Transfers from General funds

45
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13.

RESTRICTED FUNDS (continued)
The charitable objectives of Monkton House Kings College (Cardiff) Educational Trust Ltd and the League for the
Exchange of Commonwealth Teachers are narrower than those of Education Development Trust.
The assets of Alexandria Schools Trust were transferred to Education Development Trust on 1 April 2014. As part
of the transfer agreement the former trustees of Alexandria Schools Trust placed restrictions on the use of the
funds and therefore the fund is still treated as restricted in the Charity. The use of these funds is restricted to the
advancement of education in Egypt and other countries, in accordance with British educational principles and
practice.
Funds have been transferred from unrestricted (general) to restricted reserves to fund the shortfall recorded in the
separate accounts of Monkton House Kings College (Cardiff) Educational Trust Ltd.

14.

PROVISION FOR LIABILITIES AND CHARGES
GROUP

As at 1 September 2017
Utilised during the year
(Release) / charge for the year
As at 31 August 2018

Onerous
Leases Dilapidations

Tax

Pension deficit
reduction
payments
£’000
£’000

Other

Total

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

20
(20)

655
(54)

55

23
56

144
(17)
-

842
(17)
37

-

601

55

79

127

862

20
(20)

655
(54)

55

57

144
(17)
-

819
(17)
38

-

601

55

57

127

840

CHARITY
As at 1 September 2017
Utilised during the year
(Release) / charge for the year
As at 31 August 2018

Provisions due in over one year
Within the figures reported for both the Group and the Charity the following provisions are due after one year
Onerous
Leases Dilapidations

Due after one year

Tax

£’000

£’000

£’000

-

520

-

Pension deficit
reduction
payments
£’000
£’000

Other

-

110

Total
£’000

630

The provision for dilapidations is a best estimate of the Group’s liability as tenant for the repair and redecoration of
leased buildings on termination of the leases. The timing of potential payments will be in line with the exit dates
from leasehold properties.
The provision for pension deﬁcit reduction payments relates to Education Development Trust's membership of the
Pension Trust’s Growth Plan. The £127,000 provision as at 31 August 2018 (2017: £144,000) shown above
represents the present value of contributions payable by Education Development Trust that result from the terms of
the deﬁcit recovery plan in respect of the Growth Plan.
46
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PENSIONS
The Group operates both defined contribution and defined benefit pension schemes.
a. Defined contribution schemes
The assets of these schemes are held separately from those of the Group in independently administered funds.
The pension cost charge represents contributions payable by the Group to the fund and amounted to £649,586
(2016/17: £564,622). Contributions totalling £105,935 (2016/17: £90,197) were payable to the fund at the year
end and are included in creditors.
The Group also contributes to the Teachers' Pension Scheme which is an unfunded, statutory, final salary
scheme. Under this scheme benefits are paid out of monies provided by Parliament and teachers' and
employers' contributions are credited to the Exchequer. The pension cost charge represents contributions
payable by the Group to the fund and amounted to £189,924 (2016/17: £199,411). Contributions totalling
£24,348 (2016/17: £26,572) were payable to the fund at the year end and are included in creditors.
The Group also participates in the Pension Trust’s Growth Plan. This is a funded, multi-employer scheme with
defined benefit characteristics. As it is not possible to identify on a consistent basis the share of underlying
assets and liabilities belonging to an individual employer, this scheme is treated as a defined contribution
scheme. Contributions payable in the year, amounted to £16,749 (2016/17: £16,498). The results of the Growth
Plan scheme valuation as at 30 September 2014 show a deﬁcit of £177 million. A recovery plan has been
established which aims to eliminate the funding deﬁcit over a period of nine years and six months from April
2016. The additional employer contributions required from Education Development Trust as part of this recovery
plan are £0.02 million per annum. In line with the requirements of the SORP and FRS 102, the present value of
contributions payable under the terms of this recovery plan must be recognised as a liability and this is detailed
at note 14 to the consolidated ﬁnancial statements.
b. Defined benefit scheme
The parent participates in a local government pension scheme (LGPS) operated by The London Pension Fund
Authority providing benefits based on final pensionable salary. The assets of the schemes are held separately
from those of the Group. The parent also participates in the multi-employer Prudential Platinum defined benefit
pension scheme. The assets of each employer in the scheme are kept entirely separate. A subsidiary, the
League for the Exchange of Commonwealth Teachers, has a closed scheme.
The pension cost of each scheme is determined on the advice of independent qualified actuaries. As required
by FRS 102, the defined benefit liabilities have been measured using the projected unit method.
Derivation of figures
The figures disclosed below have been derived by approximate methods from the latest full actuarial valuation
of the funds. For the LGPS the latest actuarial valuation was carried out by Barnett Waddington as at 31 March
2016 and for the closed scheme the latest actuarial valuation was carried out by JLT Pension Capital Strategies
Ltd as at 1 April 2015. The Prudential Platinum scheme was set up in June 2017 and a formal actuarial
valuation as at 31 December 2017 is currently ongoing.
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PENSIONS (continued)
Derivation of figures (continued)
There is no provision for unitising the assets of a fund under the LGPS. The assets of each fund as a whole are
allocated to participating bodies on a consistent and reasonable basis. The assumptions used in calculating
defined benefit assets and liabilities are shown in the following table:
Assumptions
RPI
CPI
Salary increases per annum
Pensions increases per annum
Discount rate per annum

2017/18

2016/17

3.0%-3.4%
2.2%-2.35%
2.7%-3.85%
2.2%-3.2%
2.6%-2.65%

3.2%-3.4%
2.5%
3.7%-4.0%
2.5%-3.2%
2.4%-2.5%

Mortality assumptions
Each fund uses assumptions appropriate to that fund. The Prudential Platinum Scheme uses the S2PA tables,
long cohort with a 1.5% improvement. The closed scheme uses the PCA00 tables with a 1.25% underpin. The
local government scheme uses Club Vita tables with a long cohort projection and 1.5% underpin.
Year to
Year to
31 August 2018 31 August 2017
£’000
£’000

Composition of assets and liabilities:
Equities
Gilts
Other bonds / property
Cash / other
Plan assets at fair value
Present value of funded liabilities
Present value of unfunded liabilities
Net asset / (liability)

4,797
1,842
1,077
2,667
10,383

4,831
1,635
869
2,647
9,982

(9,961)
422
422

(10,360)
(378)
(378)

Year to
Year to
31 August 2018 31 August 2017
£’000
£’000

Reconciliation of the present value of liabilities
Opening present value of liabilities
10,360
Current service cost
104
Interest cost
248
Contributions by participants
20
Net benefits paid out
(295)
Actuarial (gains) / losses
(476)
Extinguished on cessation
Closing present value of liabilities
9,961

48
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59,650
68
235
14
(732)
(1,313)
(47,562)
10,360
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PENSIONS (continued)
Year to
Year to
31 August 2018 31 August 2017
£’000
£’000

Reconciliation of the fair value of assets
Opening fair value of assets
9,982
Interest income
241
Re-measurement gains:
Return on scheme assets excluding
interest income
181
Other actuarial gains
Contributions by employer
329
Contributions by participants
20
Net benefits paid out
(295)
Administration expenses
(75)
Extinguished on cessation
Closing fair value of assets
10,383

1,238
52
381
14
(732)
(11)
(26,185)
9,982

Amounts recognised in the balance sheet
Fair value of plan assets
10,383
Present value of plan liabilities
(9,961)
Net asset / (liability)
422

9,982
(10,360)
(378)

Return on assets
Actual return on assets

Amount recognised in the SOFA
Current service cost
Administration expenses
Assets and liabilities extinguished
on administration
Net interest on defined benefit liability
Income / (expense) recognised

35,050
175

422

1,413

68
11

68
11

7
86

(21,377)
60
(21,238)

Analysis of actuarial loss recognised within the SOFA gains
and losses category
Actual return less interest income included in net interest income
Other actuarial gains on assets
Experience gains and losses arising on scheme liabilities
Changes in assumptions underlying the present value of scheme
liabilities
Total actuarial gains

49

61

Year to
Year to
31 August 2018 31 August 2017
£’000
£’000

181
(57)

1,238
52
791

533
657

522
2,603

6: CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND NOTES

ANNUAL REPORT 2017/18

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 August 2018
16.

OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS
At 31 August there were annual commitments under non-cancellable
operating leases expiring as follows:

Land and buildings
Group
Within one year
Within two to five years
After five years

Charity
Within one year
Within two to five years
After five years

Other operating leases
Group
Within one year

Charity
Within one year

At 31 August
2018

At 31 August
2017

£’000

£’000

3,247
3,352
9,697
16,296

3,174
3,802
10,406
17,382

774
2,823
9,697
13,294

859
2,823
10,406
14,088

-

3
3

-

-

The land and building lease commitment figure for both the Charity and the Group includes a total of £3.7 million
(2016/17: £4.1m) relating to properties which are sub-let to another organisation. Future amounts receivable under
non-cancellable subleases are as follows:

Land and buildings
Group and Charity
Within one year
Within two to five years
After five years

50
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At 31 August
2018

At 31 August
2017

£’000

£’000

386
1,547
1,773
3,706

376
1,546
2,162
4,084
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PRIOR YEAR COMPARATIVE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL ACTIVITIES
---------------GROUP----------------------

------------------CHARITY------------------------

General
Fund
£’000

Restricted
Funds
£’000

Total
2016/17
£’000

General
Fund
£’000

Restricted
Funds
£’000

Total
2016/17
£’000

102
405
49

175
-

277
405
49

1,089
404
7

175
-

1,264
404
7

50,915
5,342
11,032
67,845

175

50,915
5,342
11,032
68,020

16,933
5,346
9,333
33,112

175

16,933
5,346
9,333
33,287

413

42
-

42
413

413

42
-

42
413

Expenditure on charitable activities
Education Services
Research and Consultancy
Independent Schools
Total expenditure

50,215
5,144
10,694
66,466

30
404
476

50,245
5,548
10,694
66,942

17,201
5,595
9,671
32,880

404
446

17,201
5,999
9,671
33,326

Total income less total expenditure

1,379

(301)

1,078

232

(271)

(39)

20,262
351
21,992

404
103

20,262
755
22,095

351
583

404
133

755
716

2,119

484

2,603

2,119

-

2,119

285
2,404

484

285
2,888

2,119

-

2,119

24,396

587

24,983

2,702

133

2,835

(798)

-

(798)

-

-

-

Net movement in funds after minority
interest

23,598

587

24,185

2,702

133

2,835

Balance brought forward at 1 Sept 2016

(2,391)

5,141

2,750

9,734

5,708

15,442

Balance carried forward at 31 Aug 2017

21,207

5,728

26,935

12,436

5,841

18,277

INCOME
Income from investments
Dividends receivable
Rental income
Interest income
Income from charitable activities
Education Services
Research and Consultancy
Independent Schools
Total income
EXPENDITURE
Expenditure on raising funds
Investment managers’ fees
Other costs

Disposal of subsidiaries
Net gains on investments
Net income
Other recognised gains and losses
Actuarial gain on defined benefit
pension schemes
Exchange gain on conversion of subsidiaries
Total recognised gains for period
Net movement in funds before minority
interest
Less: minority interest

51
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Careers and
employability
services
We have been a leading
careers service provider in
the UK for over 20 years
and have a successful
track record of managing
programmes delivering
careers, employment
and skills support.
Bridging the gap between
education, training and
employment is key to our
mission of transforming
lives around the world.

COMPANY NUMBER: 867944
CHARITY NUMBER: 270901

